THE MAIN TYPES AND CAUSES OF DISCRIMINATION

(Memorandum submitted by the Secretary-General)

and ATASPE 13 DEC 149

Bb W.



UNITED NATIONS



THE MAIN TYPES AND CAUSES OF DISCRIMINATION

(Memorandum submitted by the Secretary-General)

United Nations — Commission on Human Rights Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minorities Lake Success, New York 1949

NOTE

All United Nations documents are designated by symbols, i.e., capital letters combined with figures. Mention of such a symbol indicates a reference to a United Nations document.

| P | / CN | A /0 | | //0 | /D | 2 |
|----|-------------|------|-------|-------|------|---|
| E, | COM. | .473 | u D.A | / 10/ | Rev. | |

7 June 1949

The original text of document E/CN.4 Sub. 2/40 has been slightly altered in form, but no changes of substance have been made.

United Nations Publications

Sales No.: 1949. XIV. 3

Table of Contents

| Chapter Po | age |
|---|------------|
| I. Introduction | |
| A. Scope of this memorandum | 1 |
| B. Differences between the prevention of discrimination and the | |
| protection of minorities | 2 |
| II. Preliminary considerations | 4 |
| A. Guiding principles | 4 |
| B. Knowledge of social conditions | 5 |
| C. Types of measures to prevent discrimination | 5 |
| III. Sociological and juridical fundamentals for defining discrimina- tion | |
| A. Inter-individual relations and social relations | 6 |
| B. Prejudice and discrimination as social behaviour | 7 |
| C. Prejudice and discrimination: acquired forms of behaviour | 7 |
| D. Meaning and extent of equality | 8 |
| IV. Prejudice as a source of discrimination | , |
| | 10 |
| B. Social prejudices | 11 |
| C. Factors engendering prejudices | 11 |
| | 12 |
| | 13 |
| | 13 |
| G. Causes engendering prejudice | 14 |
| | 15 |
| | 16 |
| | 16 |
| K. Pretexts for prejudice | 17 |
| | 17 |
| | 21 |
| 3. Cultural circle | 21 |
| | 22 |
| 5. Religion | 22 |
| 6. National circle | 22 |
| | 23 |
| | 24 |
| 9. Sex | 2 5 |

| Chap | ter | Page | | | | |
|------|---|------|--|--|--|--|
| v. | Discrimination | | | | | |
| | A. Definition | 26 | | | | |
| | B. Facts concerning discrimination | 27 | | | | |
| | C. Main classifications of discrimination | 28 | | | | |
| | 1. Discrimination denying rights | 28 | | | | |
| | 2. Discrimination by public officials | | | | | |
| | (a) Public discrimination in the form of disabilities | 29 | | | | |
| | (b) Public discrimination manifested by the granting of | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | privileges | | | | | |
| | (c) Public discrimination imposing outous duties | 20 | | | | |
| | 8. Legitimate distinctions which do not constitute discrimi- | | | | | |
| | nation | | | | | |
| | 4. Discrimination by private people | 39 | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| VI. | Legal measures for preventing discrimination | | | | | |
| | A. The effective power of the law and its limits | | | | | |
| | B. Possible legal measures to prevent discrimination | | | | | |
| | C. Non-penal logal measures | 45 | | | | |
| | D. Penal measures and their possible scope | 47 | | | | |
| | E. Public administrative measures | 48 | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| VII. | Educational measures | | | | | |
| | A. Aims | 50 | | | | |
| | B. Fields of education | | | | | |
| | C. Educational principles for the prevention of discrimination. | 51 | | | | |
| | D. Education in schools | 51 | | | | |
| | E. Education outside the schools | | | | | |
| | F. Orientation and principal content of educational pro- | | | | | |
| | grammes | 54 | | | | |
| | G. Dangers to be avoided | | | | | |
| | H. Inter-group contacts | | | | | |
| | 1. Research work relating to educational programmes for the | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| | prevention of discrimination | 50 | | | | |
| | | | | | | |

| Selected bi | ibliography c | n | discrimination | and | related | subjects | 58 |
|-------------|---------------|---|----------------|-----|---------|----------|----|
|-------------|---------------|---|----------------|-----|---------|----------|----|

.

Chapter 1

Introduction

A. SCOPE OF THIS MEMORANDUM

1. The Economic and Social Council, at its sixth session, requested the Secretary-General (resolution 116 (VI) B):

"(i) To organize studies and prepare analyses designed to assist the Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minorities in determining the main types of discrimination which impede the equal enjoyment by all of human rights and fundamental freedoms and the causes of such discrimination, the results of such studies and analyses to be made available to the members of the Sub-Commission;

"(ii) To keep in mind, in connexion with any studies he may make in the fields of the prevention of discrimination and the protection of minorities, the desirability of formulating effective educational, programmes in these fields and to report any findings that might 'assist the Sub-Commission in making appropriate recommendations to this end."

2. The purpose of this study, which is based upon a broad interpretation of this request to the Secretary-General, is to put before the Sub-Commission data relating to the causes and main types of discrimination, and possible remedies. In preparing this memorandum numerous studies of discrimination, made by psychologists, sociologists, anthropologists, economists, historians, political scientists, jurists and statisticians, have been examined. Many of these are listed in the bibliography. This memorandum therefore represents a systematic organization of the findings of many of those who have conducted studies in this field, presented in such a way as to indicate the propositions on which a majority of students agree. It is therefore not to be considered in any way as an expression of any views of the Secretary-General on this subject, but rather as an attempt to place in systematic order the findings and suggestions of various scientists, bearing in mind the extremely complex nature of the subject.

3. The Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minorities has already discussed the meaning of "prevention of discrimination" and "protection of minorities". At its first session in Geneva, the Sub-Commission decided not to attempt any legal definition of the two terms, but to confine itself to indicating the considerations which, in its opinion, should be taken into account in framing provisions to be included either in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights or in the International Covenant on Human Rights. The Sub-Commission suggested that the final drafting of articles on the prevention of discrimination and the protection of minorities might be facilitated by the following considerations (E/CN.4/52, chapter V):

"1. Prevention of discrimination is the prevention of any action which denies to individuals or groups of people equality of treatment which they may wish.

"2. Protection of minorities is the protection of non-dominant groups which, while wishing in general for equality of treatment with the majority, wish for a measure of differential treatment in order to preserve basic characteristics which they possess and which distinguish them from the majority of the population. The protection applies equally to individuals belonging to such groups and wishing the same protection. It follows that differential treatment of such groups or of individuals belonging to such groups is justified when it is exercised in the interest of their contentment and the welfare of the community as a whole. The characteristics meriting such protection are race, religion and language. In order to qualify for protection a minority must owe undivided allegiance to the Government of the State in which it lives. Its members must also be nationals of that State.

"If a minority wishes for assimilation and is debarred, the question is one of discrimination and should be treated as such."

4. The Commission on Human Rights, at its second session, approved the text on the prevention of discrimination submitted by the Sub-Commission, but postponed consideration of the text on the protection of minorities (E/600, paragraphs 39 and 40).

5. This memorandum deals only with the prevention of discrimination. It is not presented as a formal report on the subject, nor even as a complete and exhaustive study of all the psychological, sociological, legal and educational aspects of discrimination; it is rather a summary statement on the nature, causes and types of discrimination. It includes suggestions which may be of practical value in undertaking further studies and in making recommendations for the prevention of discrimination.

B. DIFFERENCES BETWEEN THE PREVENTION OF DISCRIMINATION AND THE PROTECTION OF MINORITIES

6. The texts adopted by the Sub-Commission, referred to in paragraph 3, indicate the fundamental difference between the prevention of discrimination and the protection of minorities. From these texts, it would appear that discrimination implies any act or conduct which denies to certain individuals equality of treatment with other individuals because they belong to particular groups in society. To prevent discrimination, therefore, some means must be found to suppress or eliminate inequality of treatment which may have harmful results, aiming at the prevention of any act or conduct which implies that an unfavourable distinction is made between individuals solely because they belong to certain categories or groups of society. The aim is to prevent any act which might imply inequality of treatment on grounds of race, colour, sex, language, religion, political or other opinion, national or social origin, property, birth or other status. Thus the prevention of discrimination means the suppression or prevention of any conduct which denies or restricts a person's right to equality.

7. The protection of minorities, on the other hand, although similarly inspired by the principle of equality of treatment of all peoples, requires positive action: concrete service is rendered to the minority group, such as the establishment of schools in which education is given in the native tongue of the members of the group. Such measures are of course also inspired by the principle of equality: for example, if a child receives its education in a language which is not its mother tongue, this might imply that the child is not treated on an equal basis with those children who do receive their education in their mother tongue. The protection of minorities therefore requires positive action to safeguard the rights of the minority group, provided of course that the people concerned (or their parents in case of children) wish to maintain their differences of language and culture.

8. In applying the principle of the prevention of discrimination in the example given above, no child could be excluded from any school because his mother tongue or cultural background differed from that of the majority of the children attending the school.

9. As the ultimate goal of the protection of minorities differs from that of the prevention of discrimination, the two questions must be dealt with in different ways. No contradiction exists, of course, in aiming simultaneously at the prevention of discrimination and the protection of minorities. In each case it is desired to obtain and effectively to maintain equality of treatment of all peoples. The difference arises from the wishes of the people concerned. Those affected by any plan designed to protect minorities are free to choose whether they wish to share the cultural and educational life of the majority without any distinction (no discrimination being imposed), or whether they wish to maintain the culture of their national, linguistic or religious group. Thus it may be said that the prevention of discrimination and the protection of minorities represent different aspects of the same principle of equality of treatment for all.

10. The equal enjoyment of the right freely to participate in the cultural life of the community, to enjoy the arts and to share in scientific advancement and its benefits, under articles 26 (2) and 27 (1) of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, may under certain circumstances imply some kind of positive protection of minorities.

Chapter II

Preliminary Considerations

11. Any plan which is aimed at the prevention of discrimination must be based upon (A) certain guiding principles and (B) actual social conditions.

A. GUIDING PRINCIPLES

12. The guiding principles relating to the prevention of discrimination are laid down in the United Nations Charter¹ and in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights. Articles 2 and 7 of the Declaration not only proclaim the principle prohibiting discrimination; this principle permeates the whole of the Declaration. It is expressed in the preamble and in every article in such terms as: "all human beings", "everyone", "no one", "all" etc.

13. Although these guiding principles of the United Nations are clear, it might be well to look into the grounds upon which some of them are based. Human beings are alike in anatomy and physiology, in their psychological structure and processes, in the essential functions of life, and in their need for cultural expression. They differ in physical stature, colour, sex, talent, virtue etc.

14. Since human beings are both alike and different, the principle of equality must be based upon some criterion. That criterion is to be found in an ethical concept, namely, the idea of the dignity of the human person. Human dignity implies that human beings are to be treated as ends in themselves and not as mere means to an end.

15. On the basis of this ethical concept of the dignity of the human person, the following principles are founded:

(a) The principle of individual freedom, and

(b) The principle of equality of all human beings before the law.

¹ Preamble, and Articles 1 (paragraph 3), 13, 55, 56, 62, 68, 73 and 76; the Declaration of Philadelphia contained in the Constitution of the ILO; Constitution of UNESCO, preamble, article 1, paragraphs 1 and 2; World Health Organization, preamble of its Constitution. Among the antecedents: Inter-American Conference on Problems of War and Peace, resolutions 28, 41, and 52; first Declaration of the United Nations of 1 January 1942; and the Atlantic Charter.

B. KNOWLEDGE OF SOCIAL CONDITIONS

16. The second necessary fundamental to prevent discrimination is knowledge of actual social conditions. This knowledge must be based on sociological analyses of the facts involving discrimination, their causes, how they function, and their effects. From such aanlyses it should be possible to ascertain: (a) those discriminatory practices which may be directly prevented by legal action; (b) those practices which may be curtailed or restricted by administrative actions; and (c) those practices which, although harmful, cannot be effectively controlled except through long-term educational programmes.

TYPES OF MEASURES TO PREVENT DISCRIMINATION

17. There are several types of measures to prevent discriminatory practices:

(a) Some practices may be prevented or suppressed through direct legal action;

(b) Other practices cannot be directly controlled by penal or other laws, but might be fought indirectly by administrative measures put into effect by public agencies (for example: the creation of institutions for promoting better understanding between different social groups; regulations prohibiting segregation in all official bodies, such as the army; economic measures, such as construction projects, in which different social groups may be brought together; the establishment of public organs to assist and protect persons from becoming victims of such practices etc.).

(c) There are other practices which can be treated only indirectly by educational action. Indeed, the entire field of action in the prevention of discrimination requires a vast programme of education. This is true even with those practices which may be immediately suppressed by law, for the law may be ineffective unless it finds support in the attitudes of the people. Therefore any programme of education must take into consideration all existing manifestations of discriminatory behaviour, and must point out especially the psychological background which gives rise to such conduct. In order to initiate such a vast programme of education it may be necessary (1) to suggest educational programmes in all schools, and (ii) to organize and develop a systematic educational campaign outside the schools, over as wide a field as possible.

Chapter III

Sociological and Juridical Fundamentals for Defining Discrimination

A. INTER-INDIVIDUAL RELATIONS AND SOCIAL RELATIONS

18. Relations between human beings are not always peaceful and friendly; on the contrary, there is frequently suspicion, hostility, ill-faith, unfair competition, and even ruthless behaviour. Not all of these are necessarily manifestations of prejudice or discrimination, except when dislike or hatred between individuals is based on the fact that the person disliked belongs to a particular social circle, group or category.

19. Some contemporary sociologists are of the opinion that it is necessary to distinguish between inter-individual and social relations.

20. Inter-individual relations are established between two or more persons as such through the affinities of their peculiarly personal characteristics. In such a relationship each views the other as an individual. Ties of friendship, love and sympathy conform to this pattern. It is the special quality of the individual (as lover, friend, master or the like) that creates the bond. Antipathy, enmity and hatred, needless to say, also display similarly individualized forms.

21. Prejudice, hostility and conflict arising in inter-individual relations do not necessarily involve discrimination. Such relations may be of interest to the study of individual psychology, and especially to the study of morals and their educational application, but they are less pertinent to the study of discrimination.

22. A second type of human relations is "social" in the strict sense of the word: relations which are established between replaceable, interchangeable, exchangeable persons, such as colleagues, co-partisans, comrades, citizens, etc. These relations are established on account of social functions performed by the related persons, rather than on account of individual characteristics.

23. Such social relations, and their respective attitudes, are established not on account of the peculiar qualities of the real individuals involved, but on account of the particular social role which each plays in his capacity as a member of a special collective group (for example, as a national, an alien, a neighbour, a well-bred person, a believer in some creed, a co-partisan, a wealthy man, a member of the Western culture, an Oriental, a professional, a manual worker, a white person, a Negro, a man, a woman, etc.). Those social relations are mainly based on the fact that an individual is, or is not, included in a certain social category.

B. PREJUDICE AND DISCRIMINATION AS SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR

24. It appears that practices characterized as discriminatory belong to the second type of human relations, namely, social relations in the strict sense of this word as explained above.

25. The idea of discrimination is not generally considered to include unjustified prejudice, hostile attitudes, or rejection solely because of likes or dislikes based on strictly individual qualities of behaviour, real or supposed. On the contrary, it deals with prejudice, dislike, enmity, or hatred of one person towards another because the latter belongs to a particular race or ethnic group; has a certain colour of skin; belongs to the male or female sex; speaks a certain language; professes a particular religion; stands for a political opinion; maintains a certain scientific opinion; prefers a certain artistic style; is a foreigner; is a wealthy or poor person; belongs to the nobility; is an illegitimate child; or is a soldier, a lawyer, etc.

26. The fact that discrimination arises from the existence of social categories does not mean that all social categories are unjustified or bad. On the contrary, it is obvious that such collective patterns are inherent in any society and that among them there are many which are fully justified. Other social categories may become harmful when they give rise to prejudice or acts of discrimination.

27. Once the field in which discrimination occurs has been established, it may be possible to find means of preventing discrimination. In doing so it is necessary to examine the causes, both psychological and social, which lead to discriminatory behaviour. Then, knowing the nature of the processes by which discriminatory forms of social behaviour are developed, one can work toward both the prevention and the suppression of discriminatory practices.

C. PREJUDICE AND DISCRIMINATION: ACQUIRED FORMS OF BEHAVIOUR

28. The psychological basis for, as well as the practical manifestations of, discriminatory practices are not inherent in human nature but are forms of behaviour acquired through casual association of certain emotions or impulses with certain mental representations. For example, an unpleasant experience with a person of a particular ethnic group, combined with impulses of self-assertion or considerations of economic interest, may produce a mental complex constituting prejudice, which, as it crystallizes and generalizes, becomes a social pattern through contagion and imitation. If the origin of the complex is known, an attempt may be made to eradicate it by dissociating the various mental ingredients, the association of which has engendered the prejudice. If social prejudice were a necessary part of human nature, any attempt to suppress it would be useless, or at least would have little and limited success. But if social prejudice is only a form of social behaviour, then it can be suppressed, since its formation is accidental rather than necessary.

29. This does not mean that the suppression cf prejudice is an easy task. Even knowing the fundamental causes of prejudice, and therefore the means to suppress it, the actual task of prevention and of suppression will always be very difficult. Nevertheless, it is certainly worthwhile to make an attempt in that direction; and it is generally agreed that the goal, although difficult, can be reached. It has been noted that no matter how harmful purely individual prejudices towards a fellow-man may be, these are outside the field of discrimination unless they are unduly generalized, become social prejudices, and cease to be purely individual.

D. MEANING AND EXTENT OF EQUALITY

30. Still another distinction must be made in order to define discrimination in the most precise terms possible. The ambiguity of the term "equality" is eliminated if we consider it to refer only to moral and juridical equality as proclaimed in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights; that is to say, it is equality in dignity, formal equality in rights, and equality of opportunity, but not necessarily material equality as to the extent and content of the rights of all individuals.

31. Such equality does not exclude two classes of differences, which are generally considered admissible and justified:

(a) Differentiation based on conduct imputable to the individual (examples: industriousness, idleness; carefulness, carelessness; decency, indecency; merit, demerit; delinquency, lawfulness; etc.);

(b) Differentiation based on individual qualitics, which in spite of not being imputable to the individual, have a social value (examples: physical and mental capacities, talent, innate ability, etc.).

32. On the other hand, moral and juridical equality excludes any differentiation based on:

(a) Grounds which are not imputable to the individual and which should not be considered as having any social or legal meaning, such as colour, race, sex;

(b) Grounds of social generic categories, such as language, political or other opinions, national or social origin, property, birth or other status. **39.** Thus the following delimitation of the meaning of the term discrimination may be suggested: discrimination includes any conduct based on a distinction made on grounds of natural or social categories, which have no relation either to individual capacities or merits, or to the concrete behaviour of the individual person.

84. The most harmful discrimination is that which denies the principles of equality established by the Charter of the United Nations, the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, and certain national laws.

85. Furthermore, there is another class of discrimination which consists in unfavourable treatment in social relations only, but not in denying legal rights to any persons.

86. It is clear that forms of discrimination which deny legal rights may and should be fought by legal measures, while those which comprise mercly social treatment must chiefly be fought by education and by other social measures.

Chapter IV

Prejudice as a Source of Discrimination

A. PREJUDICE AND DISCRIMINATION

37. Discrimination might be described as unequal and unfavourable treatment, either by denying rights or social advantage to members of a particular social category; or by imposing special burdens on them; or by granting favours exclusively to the members of another category, creating in this way inequality between those who belong to the privileged category and the others.

88. Discrimination manifests itself in actual conduct which is harmful behaviour externally manifested, positively or negatively, towards persons belonging to a particular social category for the sole reason that they belong to that particular category. The categories which have been most frequently taken as grounds for discrimination include race, colour, sex, ethnic origin, cultural circle, language, religion, political or other opinion, national or social origin, property, birth, caste, social status, etc. These different pretexts for discrimination will be discussed in another part of this memorandum. The point which is emphasized now is that discrimination is not merely a subjective attitude but is conduct outwardly manifested.

39. However, discriminatory acts, which are conduct outwardly manifested, originate from within, namely from prejudice which creates an unfavourable attitude of mind. Such prejudice must be analysed and explained in order that it may be understood, and the means for preventing or decreasing it found. Generally speaking, it is much easier to attack discrimination directly than to attempt to suppress prejudice. Discrimination, at least in its external form, can be prevented or suppressed by legal measures. Prejudice, on the other hand, is not controllable in that sense. But since most forms and types of discrimination are based upon prejudice, and, moreover, since there are many forms of purely social discrimination (that is to say, discrimination which is not expressed in acts which deny legal rights) it is most important to study prejudice.

40. Most sociologists have stated that prejudice breeds discrimination, yet the reverse relationship is also to be found, for discriminatory practices may breed prejudice, since they act, in a way, as a medium of indoctrination. 41. Usually prejudice and d^{ie, mi}mination are reciprocally related. Nevertheless, there are extreme cases in which only one exists. It is possible for inter-group prejudice to exist without specific discrimination; especially when it is only a mild form of prejudice which does not take the form of external behaviour or when there are legal restrictions which prevent its outward manifestations. Discrimination may also exist without prejudice when it is based only upon a calculated interest or desire for exploitation. However, generally there is a mutual inter-action between prejudice and discrimination.

42. Prejudice may exist in purely inter-individual relations, as well as in social relations in the strict meaning of this term indicated above. But prejudice which originates and develops among individuals as such, in so far as they merely feel and act as individuals, will not be dealt with in this memorandum, except when such prejudices are unduly generalized and cover entire social categories.

B. SOCIAL PREJUDICES

43. A social or group prejudice is a way of feeling, a bias of disposition, consisting of a commonly shared attitude of hostility, contempt, or mistrust, or of devaluation of the members of a particular social group, because they happen to belong to that group.

44. Prejudice is not a simple thing. It has been stated by scientists that there is no concrete type of prejudice which can be considered as naturally inherent or inborn in any individual. Infants and pre-school children do not exhibit prejudice towards any social group. The same scientists state that all types and forms of prejudice have been learned, or casually and artificially constituted.

45. The fixation of a prejudice depends upon a complex of factors, not the least important of which is the attitude of the adults and older children present in the environment. The adult attitude is especially important in determining whether the child builds up habits of friendliness or of antipathy. There appears to be an equal possibility of developing either of these attitudes.

46. We are told by social scientists that there is no concrete prejudice between different social groups which might be considered as universally prevalent. Yet we find prejudice everywhere. If prejudice is not instinctive, why is it prevalent?

C. FACTORS ENGENDERING PREJUDICES

47. There are three factors which regularly engender prejudice:

(a) Among the natural tendencies of man, there are some which tend to develop the capacity of hostility. Man is capable of both love and hatred. This capacity unconsciously or consciously seeks a concrete outlet in a certain person or persons, or in a certain type of individual person, or in a certain social type. It is when the tendency to dislike or to hate is directed concretely against a collective type that social prejudice is born.

(b) There are always conflicts in social life which, by their continuance, support attitudes of antipathy rather than of friendliness. When conflicts arise between individuals of different social groups, antipathy between them is sometimes projected against the group to which the disliked individual belongs. By the process of projection and by association of ideas, experiences, and emotions, which have been formed casually under the influence of otherwise meaningless incidents, prejudices become fixed.

(c) There is, finally, the social tendency known as ethnocentrism or group centrism. This involves the belief that the folk-ways, customs, culture, ideas, manners, feelings, and practical behaviour prevailing in the group to which an individual belongs are considerably superior to, or better, or truer than, those prevailing in any other group. This belief, explicit or implicit (usually implicit), manifests itself particularly in the case of ethnic or national groups. Their members sincerely feel that their own patterns of behaviour are superior to the patterns of other groups, and in many cases, they are shocked by the customs of other people. Such a situation occurs not only when cultured people come into contact with less cultured people; it also exists among people of a similar cultural level. The degree of prejudice is often greater when there is a difference in cultural level, but even when there is no such difference prejudice nevertheless occurs frequently.

D. RATIONAL AND IRRATIONAL COMPONENTS OF PREJUDICE

48. Many prejudices are rendered more complicated by the fact that they consist of two distinct components, one rational and the other irrational, reciprocally combined. For example, on the one hand, prejudice may result from the experience of an individual with some of the real defects of behaviour of individuals belonging to another social group; on the other hand, such dislike, which might or might not be justified on account of that real experience, is irrationally generalized towards all the people belonging to that social group. Another example: if job opportunities are opened to a group, say of foreigners, it is rational to fear that more will come and competition be increased. But such a fear, when irrationally generalized, can engender a prejudice against that group not only in labour relations but in other fields as well.

49. A distinction could be made between the formation of new prejudices and the prevalence of old ones. The latter problem is of more direct importance to the question discussed in this memorandum; yet measures for preventing the formation of new prejudices obviously must not be disregarded, especially in view of the possibility that new prejudices may arise to replace old ones. Nevertheless, it should be borne in mind that the principal object of this memorandum is to suggest measures by which existing discrimination may be prevented or suppressed, or at least diminished, and by which existing prejudices may be diminished.

E. RECAPITULATION ON PREJUDICE

50. To sum up, it may be said that many people have acquired a habit of looking upon the members of other social categories, not as individuals, but as members of groups: as whites or blacks, as nationals or foreigners, as men or women, as members of the upper or lower class, as Protestants, Catholics, or Jews; as workers or employers. They are viewed in the light of the alleged attributes (real or supposed) of their groups with all the distortions inspired either by bias or self-interest. A social prejudice may arise as the result of an unwarranted generalization of an unpleasant experience with a member of a particular group, which leaves a feeling of aversion and hostility which is unjustly projected against all the members of that group. However the most important and harmful type of prejudice is that which, once constituted, acts upon the members of one social group against the members of another social group by indoctrination or habit. Such prejudices are accepted without examination or even serious thought, simply because they have become part of the environment of the group. Usually the members of a social group accept the prevailing prejudices in the same way as they accept the conventions, the opinions, the feelings, the labels, the gestures and in general all the folkways of their group. Therefore a major problem in the effort to suppress or to decrease prejudice is to find ways of eliminating harmful collective biases.

F. DEGREES OF INTENSITY OF PREJUDICE

51. The intensity of an individual's prejudice against a group is likely to vary according to the length and intimacy of his contact with that group. Usually-though not always-the longer and closer that contact, the stronger the prejudice will grow.

52. Social prejudice may be classified according to different degrees of intensity:

(a) Prejudice which is merely an opinion which is not given outward expression either in words or by positive conduct of hostility or contempt toward members of a particular group, but which consists rather in a negative attitude of avoiding contact with members of that group as much as possible without expressing such dislike. This mild form of prejudice cannot be fought by direct legal measures, but only by education on a long-term basis. (b) Prejudice which consists of internal opinion but which is expressed outwardly in some relations with the members of a disliked group, such as showing a definitely cold attitude toward them. In this case, there is a mild expression of antipathy, dislike, or devaluation in social relations, in which no legal problem is involved and in which no discriminatory act occurs. Such a manifestation is generally considered incoercible and may only be treated by education.

(c) Prejudice which does not go so far as to deny legal rights to the members of a disliked group, but which leads to some form of social discrimination, as for example, intentionally and manifestly avoiding any social contact with members of the disliked group. This also cannot be restrained by legal measures, but may be lessened or abolished by education.

(d) Prejudice which leads to discriminatory acts, denying rights to individuals belonging to the group discriminated against. Such discriminatory behaviour may be suppressed by legal measures; however, the psychological attitude behind such behaviour can be dealt with only by education.

(e) Prejudice which leads not only to discriminatory behaviour, but goes further and gives rise to propaganda for further discrimination. This propaganda may be confined to certain private circles (for example, trying to convince friends), or it may develop into public manifestations, such as speeches or written incitement to acts of discrimination. It may be possible, without abridging the rights to freedom of speech and expression proclaimed in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, to find some legal measures by which such acts of public propaganda for discrimination may be curtailed.

(f) Prejudice which leads to acts of violence against the members of a group, committed either by an individual or by a group of individuals, or committed or tolerated by public authorities. Such manifestations of prejudice can be repressed by penal law.

G. CAUSES ENGENDERING PREJUDICE

53. Although there are many different types of causes producing prejudice, three types are of particular importance: (a) irrational, emotional reactions which are engendered in certain conditions or situations; (b) cultural conflict; and (c) conflict of interest. These three motives are usually closely intermingled in most cases of prejudice, and cannot be separated one from another. However, it is possible to examine each cause separately. Such an analysis reveals the following results:

(a) Irrational, emotional reactions. Prejudices are often built up by irrational emotional reactions to such minor factors as smell, colour, legends which have inspired fear, habits originating from early childhood, etc. Among the irrational factors which create prejudice, special attention should be given to resentment. This may arise from various causes: e.g. an individual's consciousness of his own inferiority. Such resentment usually produces a tendency either to hate a specific strange group or all strange groups, and to blame such group or groups for all the individual's misfortunes. The individual affected by such a complex usually identifies himself with the *élite* of his own group and hates the strange group because he imagines that the latter group is responsible for his failures and misfortunes. This happens most frequently when the disliked group enjoys success or prosperity. The prejudiced individual feels the need of a scapegoat to blame for his frustrations. He will not accept the responsibilities that are inherent in life in a free world. He tries to hide his own inadequacy in a world which, however, he cannot adequately explain to himself. He is a man who is afraid, not so much of members of other groups, but primarily of himself; of his conscience, his freedom, of solitude, and of change.

(b) Conflict of interest. Prejudice may arise from the consciousness of advantage or disadvantage, of power or prestige, of profit or the means thereto, or of the fear of competition. Hostility is a function of insecurity; the greater the insecurity, the more intense the hostility. Therefore intergroup prejudices and conflicts are more likely to occur when there is high tension in a given society as a result of economic depression, unemployment, or social disorganization.

(c) Cultural conflict. Almost every social or cultural group has its own sense of superiority and frequently tries to re-enforce that sense of superiority by sustaining prejudice. There was a time when members of different social groups who resided in different parts of the world, or in different social strata, lived differently, spoke different languages, and had little contact with one another. Modern methods of transportation, communications, and the increased "social permeability" of present-day life make it possible and even necessary for such groups to come closer together and to intermingle; but frequently their group prejudices tend to keep them apart, to foster tension and antagonism, grievances and frustrations.

H. PREJUDICE AND WAR

54. In this connexion, it should be noted that there is a close relationship between the prevention of discrimination and prejudice, and the prevention of war. Any of the three causes of prejudice enumerated above may result in an attitude favourable to warfare. Furthermore, both discrimination and war stem, to a large extent, from the same source of prejudice in inter-social relations. In the case of discrimination, such prejudice is generally directed against groups inside the State; in the case of war, it is directed against groups outside the State—in other words, against foreign nations. But to a large extent the two forms coexist, as when prejudice is directed against members of a certain religious group who may constitute a minority within the State and a majority within a neighbouring State. Furthermore, once a strong prejudice has been established in the minds of a people against a certain group, it often leads to prejudice against another group, or several other groups, or even to a more general concept of a "superior people" with all that this implies in the way of prejudice against all "inferior" people; and finally to wars of extermination against such peoples.

I. INDOCTRINATION

55. Regardless of what may be the origin of social prejudice, it is usually expanded and kept alive through indoctrination. Consequently, in any efforts to cradicate or decrease prejudice, special attention must be given to measures for combating harmful indoctrination.

J. THE "VICIOUS CIRCLE" AND DYNAMICS OF PREJUDICE

56. There is a distinct interrelation between practices giving rise to prejudice, and their effects. Without any justifiable reason, the members of one group begin to show dislike or contempt for the members of another group; the members of the latter group in turn react by showing resentment and mistrust. In this way they reinforce the prejudice of the former group against them. Thus prejudices are strengthened by the reaction which they produce. A vicious circle is thereby created. The same thing applies to discriminatory practices. In this respect also, a vicious circle frequently arises between fields of social activity: for example, discrimination causes one group to be less well-groomed than another one. The first effect of discrimination increases the prejudice and thus reinforces discrimination.

57. In such cases of reciprocal prejudice, the dislike may not be equally intense on both sides. For instance:

(a) Group A despises Group B without, however, caring very much about it; and Group B feels a reaction of hatred against Group A;

(b) Group A feels hostility against Group B, and Group B in turn feels resentment against Group A but would like to become more like Group A in order to acquire its characteristics.

Ordinarily, however, the discriminating group possesses some advantage. It may have greater power socially or politically, or it may have a superior economic position. For this reason, it is in a position to discriminate without itself experiencing any ill effects. By its prejudice or hostility and especially by its discrimination, it excludes the other group from many social or economic opportunities. This cutting-off process increases the subordination of the group discriminated against and thereby reinforces the discriminating group's consciousness of its assumed superiority. The effect of the assumed superiority is increased even further by the factual evidence of inferiority that accompanies the lack of opportunity suffered by the group discriminated against. Thus, prejudice and discrimination create situations which favour their perpetuation.

K. PRETEXTS FOR PREJUDICE

58. The following are the most important pretexts for prejudice: race, colour, cultural circle, language, religion, national circle, social class (including caste, origin, educational and economic status, etc.) political or other opinion, and sex.

1. RACE

59. Contemporary science does not admit the concept of race as meaning a division of mankind into different parts, each of them characterized by a complex of special traits, both physical and mental. Anthropology has failed clearly to establish such a concept. There are, of course, differential characteristics of colour, of skin, form of head, nature and colour of hair, stature, etc. However, experience shows that such characteristics are not constantly correlated; on the contrary they are frequently intermingled. If all white men were dolichocephalic, blonde and tall, with blue eyes, wavy hair, and medium-sized noses; and all Negroes were brachicephalic and small, with black eyes and woolly hair; and all Indians were mesocephalic, medium-sized, with straight hair, hooked noses, etc., then it could be said that mankind, from a physical standpoint, is divided into distinct physical sectors. Indeed the contrary appears to be true; namely, that there is no necessary correlation among the various differential characteristics. As a matter of fact, the most extreme dolichocephalic and brachicephalic types are found among black-skinned men; among white people there are many with blue eyes, but still more with dark eyes; many have wavy hair but a great number have straight hair; dark-skinned people are among the tallest and the smallest human beings; and noses of all types appear in all colours of skin. Therefore, it is not possible to speak of races as distinct human groups, but only of differential characteristics as to the enumerated traits.

60. History, as well as anthropology, ethnology and genetics, shows that there have been mixtures of all racial types throughout the centuries.

61. History, as well as actual observations and experimental psychology, also shows that it is not possible to affirm that mental superiority of any kind can be ascribed to any particular racial characteristics. The differences as to cultural achievements do not depend on racial characteristics but on historical factors, conditions and environment.

62. Serious comparative studies have decisively proved that no definite correlation between race and crime can be established: that is to say, it is not possible to establish any connexion between race and the statistics of crime.

68. While the concept of race as a definite human group appears illegitimate from the scientific standpoint, the concept of people or nation expresses a historical and sociological reality. This concept, however, is not based on natural factors, but rather on culture. A nation includes a great variety of physical and mental types, but it usually presents a relative unity in cultural heritage.

64. The preceding statements are not offered as an explanation of prejudice, although they could, and might, be taken as a basis for enlightening people in an effort to suppress prejudice on grounds of race. They are included here because they explain the conclusion of most contemporary scientists, that ideas of race which promote prejudice are mere biases without any foundation in fact.

65. What are the factors which have most often served to engender racial prejudice?

66. Most students of the subject agree that racial prejudice is not inborn, but is acquired from the beliefs prevailing in a social group. The child does not appear to possess any definite natural attitude toward other persons solely because of their colour, the form of their noses, hair, etc. If he acquires a bias, it is usually the result of contact with the adult environment. The close and intimate relationship between the whiteskinned infant and the dark-skinned nurse-common practice in some countries—is cordial on both sides; this indicates that there is no instinctive attitude of aversion. Besides, while in certain regions of the world white men are prejudiced against coloured people, in other regions there is no such prejudice. This further confirms the theory that racial prejudice is frequently acquired as a result of social patterns of behaviour.

67. Despite the vagueness of the concept of race, and the fact that science denies that any mental and moral superiority can be attached to the physical differentials enumerated above, many persons are imbued with strong prejudices due to certain ideas of race which they hold. In some cases the idea of race becomes the basis of fanaticism. In other cases, race prejudice is used as a pretext to disguise other interests or reasons for antagonism.

68. Once a racial prejudice has been formed, the individual holding it usually tries to rationalize it. The attempt at rationalization is usually, and predominantly, based on the allegedly lower quality of intelligence and morals of the group disliked. Since the moral beliefs and sentiments diffused through a society constitute the ultimate sanctions of the social organization, it is not surprising that the morals of the opposite race are emphasized. In this way, moral distinctions become the final attempt of rations the ideas of race are reduced to feelings and sentiments. Therefore, racial ideology arouses a false social consciousness, which tends to distort everything that may fall within its sphere. The member of the disiked racial group must be repressed and made a nonentity, and the idea of assimilation made repulsive; therefore the out-group is portrayed as physically and morally unclean.

69. There are many different types of prejudice that have race as their pretext. Some of the differences between them stem from the causes or motives, conscious or sub-conscious, which have engendered the prejudice. Among these motives there are some which scem to belong to a psychological category of emotional character (such as: consciousness of belonging to a definite group, a resentment complex, interest in keeping the members of other racial groups under submission), while others belong more to the cognitional order (such as: irrational generalization of certain unpleasant experiences, survival of concepts originating in peculiar historical situations, racial prejudice intentionally created by propaganda, and racial stereotypes). Among all these motives engendering racial prejudice, the following should be particularly studied:

(a) Consciousness of belonging to a definite group with certain characteristics, ways of life, manners, and customs. This consciousness induces the members of the group to regard their group as something special. In this way a sense of solidarity and unity is established. They feel themselves to be exclusive, and tend to regard others as outsiders, with foreign manners. To be with one's own group adds to one's sense of security. When the boundary between two or more groups is centred around racial differences, racial prejudice may, and usually does, arise. The group which enjoys a higher status for any reason (economic, political, cultural, etc.) tends to consider itself superior to the other group. The latter develops a similar consciousness of forming a different group; but since it does not enjoy a high status, it usually develops, instead of a sense of superiority, a feeling of resentment against the more favoured group. On both sides a certain fear of the other group may arise; and since fear itself arouses other automatic emotional responses, prejudices are born and tend to become part of the reactions of each individual, within each group, to his own environment and to that of other individuals. If prejudice is manifested in behaviour which is outwardly expressed and directed against the members of the other group, an opposite reaction and hostile attitude may be aroused among the members of the other group. Such a reaction, on the one hand, strengthens the feeling of solidarity of the group which is considered inferior, and its members develop resentment and mistrust. On the other hand, these reactions on the part of members of the disfavoured group give a pretext to the members of the favoured group for strengthening their sense of superiority, and their contempt or hostility towards the disfavoured group. And so the vicious circle goes on.

(b) A resentment complex, or the "scapegoat mechanism". Racial prejudice thus engendered generally, although it resembles the type

described in the preceding paragraph, has its own peculiar characteristics. Many persons, driven either by an inferiority complex, or by a resentment complex, or both, develop peculiar emotional trends of anxiety, insecurity, weakness in the sense of vulnerability, damaged self-esteem, or other similar traits. To overcome these characteristics, certain defence mechanisms are employed, among which racial prejudice has been found to be one of the most important. Many such persons look for a simple cause of all their troubles, worries and sufferings. They do so for many reasons: mental laziness; the need to find a regular channel for hostile impulses; over-simplification of their problems; incapacity for perceiving all the ingredients of human realities; the desire to find a means to overcome grievances and troubles, etc. Hence the prevalence of the tendency to find a "scapegoat".

(c) Conscious or unconscious interests underlying the wish to keep the members of other racial groups under submission:

(1) Some manifestations or instances of racial prejudice, in its most virulent form, are of relatively recent origin. Originated in the expansion of Europe following the Age of Discovery, they reached their full development after the Industrial Revolution. Traders sought tropical products, cheap labour, and slaves to work in the mines and plantations of the newly-discovered countries. Arguments to justify these conditions were drawn from imagination. Among these was a belief in the racial superiority of the exploiters and the racial inferiority of the colonized or controlled peoples. When slavery or political submission was abolished, the interest in considering the peoples formerly subjugated as inferior did not disappear, but rather increased. If a man was a slave or a mere chattel, to be bould t and sold, little attention was paid to the way he was treated. But when slavery was abolished, the desire remained to preserve, under another name, the humble condition of former servants, and to defend their inferior status on grounds other than those on which slavery had been based. Certain types of racial prejudices which were almost, if not entirely, unknown in antiquity, the middle ages and early modern ages, arose with the slave trade, and persisted after its abolition for economic reasons.

(2) In other cases, the conflict of interests takes a different form, usually combined with irrational reactions and mechanisms explained above. Resentment and envy towards certain individuals of another ethnic origin who have been successful, associated with the idea that their success is dependent on racial characteristics consisting in lack of scruples and a stronger sense of group solidarity, results in an effort to deprive those individuals of their wealth or influence.

(d) An irrational generalization of a certain unpleasant experience with a member, or a few members, of a different racial group is made, and converted into a negative judgment which tends to involve all persons belonging to that group. The fact that a person of a particular ethnic group happens to be dirty, lazy, or mischievous, is attributed to the difference in race, and his defects are assumed to be common to other individuals of the same racial group. The tendency to criticize, which many persons acquire, is directed against those who are considered to be different on account of their racial characteristics. Violent misdeeds, no matter how remote, are converted into a stereotype, and all the descendants of those who committed such real or supposed acts are considered to have the characteristics of their ancestors.

(e) Survival of concepts originating in peculiar historical situations. Some ethnic groups have traditionally been relegated to a low social status or to menial services, because of various factors. The members of privileged groups become accustomed to looking upon the individuals of a group so disadvantaged as being naturally inferior. On the basis of such a stereotype, racial prejudice arises, develops, and is passed on to others.

(f) Racial prejudice intentionally created by propaganda. A person, or persons, infected by racial prejudice in any of the forms described above, may become fanatic about his beliefs, or seriously interested in spreading them, and may thus start malicious propaganda, using all possible means to convince others of the inferiority, or the wickedness, of the hated group. Usually, such propaganda combines all the factors which contribute to arouse racial prejudice. Sometimes, unfortunately, it succeeds in influencing masses of people who otherwise would not have had racial prejudice.

(g) Racial stereotypes. The following statement applies to all forms of racial prejudice: starting from the consciousness of some differences, more or less real or even supposed, stereotypes are formed in many minds. Those stereotypes are then interposed between the individual consciousness of the person who holds prejudices and the members of the group against whom prejudices develop. Thus experience is deformed, or even replaced, by such stereotypes.

2. COLOUR

70. In the great majority of cases, prejudice against colour is only a particular manifestation of racial prejudice, which is favoured and strengthened by the obvious fact of differences in colour of skin.

3. CULTURAL CIRCLE

71. While the alleged facts which are given as reasons for racial prejudice are not real but only imaginary, differences which originate from the existence of various cultural circles, or conceptions of values, are real. This does not mean that the resulting prejudice or discrimination is justified. Most prejudices which arise from the contrast between different cultures, or conceptions of the world and of life, are simply manifestations of ethnocentrism. However, sometimes there is not only the consciousness of slight differences and contrasts between two cultural circles, but also a diametrical opposition with regard to conceptions of values. Such prejudice can normally be lessened only by education and the teaching of tolerance.

4. LANGUAGE

72. Language is usually the external manifestation of the existence of a cultural circle or sub-circle, therefore most of the observations made above on ethnic and cultural groups also apply to language as a ground of prejudice.

5. Religion

73. Many religions include tolerance and respect for other creeds in their teachings; and many adherents of religions, which have given rise to acts of intolerance, are tolerant of others. It is, nevertheless, a fact that some religious leaders and believers have fostered or stimulated fanaticism or intolerant attitudes. In certain cases, a rigid and narrow interpretation of a religion may give rise to fanaticism. To torture and to kill a fellow man is admitted to be a crime, but some fanatics believe that it is a virtue to kill devils (those who do not share the true faith). The treatment of such a prejudice is very difficult. Any interference with the right to freedom of thought, conscience and religious worship, the right to freedom of opinion and expression, or the right to freedom of peaceful assembly and association, must be avoided. However, it can be shown that tolerance cannot harm any religion.

74. Another serious problem arises here. A religion may be tolerant. But religious institutions, with tendencies of self-assertion, may foster intolerant attitudes. This does not imply criticism of any particular institution; it is merely a statement of the finding of sociologists.

75. It is also necessary to note that religious beliefs, and adherence to a particular religion, although they need not necessarily create prejudices which are projected into social, political and legal fields, have sometimes engendered such prejudices. It is most difficult to abolish such prejudices because it is not sufficient merely to teach tolerance; it is also necessary to secure the co-operation of the entire group and of the clergymen, and this must be done in such a way that it does not interfere with any human right or freedom, or hurt any one's feelings.

6. NATIONAL CIRCLE

76. Estimable and praiseworthy though it be, patriotism not infrequently becomes a cloak for discriminatory attitudes which are wholly alien to its nature. Thus hatred and contempt for other countries and peoples is surely an evil distortion of so noble a sentiment as love for one's own! Xenophobia is often a manifestation of ethnocentrism. Loyalty to one's own national group is developed, perversely, into antagonism towards other groups. While libelling an individual is considered an offence, maligning a foreign group is sometimes deemed a patriotic service, even ar. act of heroism. This perversion is not considered selfish, because those who manifest it are not supposed to act to their own advantage. As Aldous Huxley writes: "Men, who in private life behave as reasonable and moral beings, become transformed, as soon as they are acting as representatives of a National Person, into the likeness of their stupid, hysterical and insanely touchy tribal divinity". (Ends and Means, page 45). Many people who as individuals suffer from an inferiority complex try to compensate for it by the joy derived from the aggressive self-assertion of the national group to which they belong.

77. Prejudice linked with the national circle may show itself in three different ways:

(a) Towards foreigners residing temporarily in the country;

(b) Towards forcigners permanently settled in the country; and

(c) Towards people of alien origin who are citizens of the country. As regards the third type, a further distinction must be drawn between those who have been naturalized, and their descendants who have been born in the country but who retain some of the characteristics of their ancestors.

78. From another point of view, attitudes towards foreigners may be classified as follows:

(a) Prejudice directed against foreigners of all classes. This prejudice shows itself in different forms, from the greatest hostility to mild forms of distrust and fear, based upon fear of exploitation or fear that foreigners will endanger national institutions;

(b) Prejudice directed against a certain foreign group or groups only. It can be based on such reasons as resentment arising out of past grievances (wars, conquests, aggression), mere dislike, or fear of competition.

7. SOCIAL CLASS

(Caste, origin, educational and economic status, etc.)

79. Without attempting to summarize all the discussions regarding social classes and the criteria which determine them, it can be recalled that among these criteria the following are important: birth and origin (that is to say, the classification into noble or plebeian strata); economic status (wealth or property); official position; and educational level. Although there have been, and still are, historical cases in which the division into classes is determined solely or predominantly by only one of these criteria, several are generally involved.

80. This division into classes varies from the completely rigid (the caste system is generally considered most rigid because there the supremacy of the upper caste is conveyed through mystical-magical beliefs which pervade the whole system) to the more flexible and milder differentations which are found among most modern democratic peoples. Between the two extremes lies the feudal system, under which the supremacy of the upper caste is assured by oligarchical institutions and economic and political powers are fused and vested in a social heirarchy. A considerably milder form exists in most of the democratic countries, where there are neither all-pervading myths nor institutions to sanction class division, but where economic advantage, social prestige and educational status are important factors, Still another form exists, in which the division is totally or mainly determined by official position in the public life of the State. Within these limits, prejudices vary in intensity and extent. The caste system, of course, engenders not only intense prejudice, but also rigid discrimination, both legally and socially.

81. Openly discriminatory institutions and acts which deny or considerably restrict legal rights may be fought by legal measures, which can repeal existing laws under which harmful distinctions are recognized, or which can prohibit and punish discriminatory institutions and acts. However, in democratic societies, class distinction alone does not usually engender discriminatory conduct denying or restricting human rights, but only causes prejudices which give rise to forms of social discrimination. The latter can normally be fought through education. In cases where such prejudices develop among public officials, causing them to treat individuals of unprivileged classes unfavourably, such abuses usually require specific legal measures for their suppression.

8. POLITICAL OR OTHER OPINION

82. Politics, like religion, may engender passionate and fanatical attitudes. When this occurs, people holding a particular political opinion, or members of a certain political party, regard their opponents with intense hostility. Everything is right about the political group or party to which they belong; and everything is evil and wrong on the opposite side. The world, or a nation, thus becomes divided into two separate and incompatible parts which are either completely white or completely black. On one side, heaven with all its angels, on the opposite side, hell with all its devils. Such fanaticism creates not only barriers but also allpervading attitudes of hostility. The resulting prejudice is not only expressed by acts within the political sphere, but may pervade all other human activities and relations, and lead to many forms of discrimination. Thus an individual will not wish his servant, employee or colleague to be militant in, or even to belong to, a political party contrary to his own.

83. Opinion, other than political, may sometimes become the ground for prejudice and even for discrimination. Sometimes people who are enthusiastic about a certain philosophy, a scientific theory, or a particular artistic style, wish their opinions to prevail and predominate over all others to the extent that they adopt an attitude of hostility towards everyone who does not share their views. This attitude is sometimes expressed in attempts to bar their opponents from opportunities, such as public posts, teaching positions, or other employment.

84. These prejudices, engendered by differences of opinion (political or other) can hardly be controlled by legal measures, since the manner in which they are expressed is usually disguised in such a way that it is very difficult to prove the existence of any unfair motive. Nevertheless, laws may be enacted which make illegal any decisions regarding appointments which take political or other opinions into account. The teaching of tolerance, however, is the best and surest means of overcoming these prejudices.

9. Sex

85. It is a well-known fact that for long periods of history prejudice based on sex has existed. This prejudice once functioned to the detriment of men (matriarchy). But in most cases and for the longest periods of time it has worked to the disadvantage of women. It has fortunately greatly diminished in recent time and is now disappearing in most parts of the world. As the principle of the fundamental dignity of the human being has gained acceptance, women have rightly demanded recognition of their right to be considered as equal with men. Science also has proved that, apart from the fundamental biological differences between men and women, there is no essential inequality. However, notwithstanding the progress which has been made in the achievement of equality between men and women, social prejudices on grounds of sex still persist, and are maintained through the survival of old traditions and customs. For example, many men who support the principle of equal rights for women do not like to work under a woman. This is apt to give rise to a degree of discrimination.

86. Legal measures may be taken to abolish restrictions on the political and civil rights of women, and to give women full opportunities for education and employment. But education can also help fight this prejudice.

Chapter V

Discrimination

A. DEFINITION

87. The word "discrimination" is used here in its pejorative sense, i.e., it is used to refer not to all differentiations, but only to distinctions which have been established to the detriment of individuals belonging to a particular group. The Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minorities has recognized this meaning of the word.

The following concepts may be useful in the attempt to formulate an accurate definition of those practices which should be included in the term "discrimination", and in determining what discriminatory acts should be prevented:

(a) Discriminatory practices are those detrimental distinctions which do not take account of the particular characteristics of an individual as such, but take into account only collective qualifications deriving from his membership in a certain social or other group;

(b) Certain distinctions, which do not constitute discrimination, are justified. These include: (1) differences of conduct imputable or attributable to an individual, that is to say, controlled by him (i.e. industriousness, idleness; carefulness, carelessness; decency, indecency; merit, demerit; lawfulness, delinquency); and (2) differences in individual qualities not imputable to the person, but having a social value (physical or mental capacity).

88. Thus, discrimination might be defined as a detrimental distinction based on grounds which may not be attributed to the individual and which have no justified consequences in social, political or legal relations (colour, race, sex, etc.), or on grounds of membership in social categories (cultural, language, religious, political or other opinion, national circle, social origin, social class, property, birth or other status).

89. Acts of discrimination assume three forms:

(a) Inequality in treatment which takes the form of imposing disabilities;

(b) Inequality in treatment which takes the form of granting privileges; and

(c) Inequality in treatment which takes the form of imposing odious obligations.

90. In studying discrimination, and especially measures for its prevention, a distinction must always be made between discriminatory conduct on the part of authorities, officials, and agents of the Government on the one hand, and by private people on the other. This point will be dealt with in detail later.

B. FACTS CONCERNING DISCRIMINATION

91. It might be said in general that there are as many forms of discrimination as there are forms of prejudice.

92. However, as has already been pointed out, there may exist cases in which prejudice is not expressed in acts of discrimination, the person concerned being restrained either by the legal or moral reasons.

93. On the other hand, there are some discriminatory acts which do not derive from prejudice but rather from the contrast between groups of different cultural levels and standards. Sometimes there are also discriminatory acts not inspired by prejudice but by economic interests. Although the latter forms of discrimination are not based on prejudice, they usually engender it in the long run.

94. Another type of discrimination which is devoid of prejudice may be mentioned. It is that into which the otherwise unprejudiced retreat under the pressure of group conformism. Though personally willing to open their family circle to the socially unacceptable, they yield, nevertheless, to the fear of the ostracism that might ensue.

95. Discriminatory customs considerably reinforce prejudice. Discrimination breeds prejudice just as prejudice breeds discrimination. Independently of the motives behind a particular prejudice, when this has been translated into acts of discrimination, future generations will acquire it mainly through the influence of prevailing customs. Prejudice is mainly sustained by social usages and sanctions. Therefore, if the materialization of such attitudes into custom could be wiped out, prejudice would be considerably lessened.

96. As indicated above, discrimination implies inequality in the treatment of individuals because of their membership in a particular social group. Ordinarily, the group discriminated against is a minority in comparison with the group which discriminates. However, there may be and actually are cases in which the group discriminated against is in the majority, dominated by a minority. This may occur, for example, in countries where colonial régimes, or colonial customs, prevail.

97. A distinction must be made on the basis of the nature of the group discriminated against: it can be either a community (that is to say, a collectivity which possesses an important and dynamic cultural patrimony and an active sense of solidarity); or it may be merely a

loosely-knit mass of people with certain common characteristics but which is not closely bound together socially and possesses no strong solidarity. There are, of course, many types of groups between these two extremes.

98. Finally, a vicious circle such as has already been described with respect to prejudice, also exists with respect to discrimination; indeed, the latter situation is even more serious. A group suffering from discrimination frequently becomes disaffected or rebellious, and the evidence of its disaffection in turn is used as a new ground for discrimination. Furthermore, there is also a "vicious circle" between discrimination and its objective effects: the effects of discriminatory practices, in so far as they lower the situation of the group discriminated against, increase the pretext for strengthening discrimination still more.

C. MAIN CLASSIFICATIONS OF DISCRIMINATION

99. As this memorandum attempts to indicate or outline preventive measures, legal and educational, a distinction should be made between discriminatory acts which may be contrary to or in conflict with the law, and those which present social aspects only. A further distinction must then be made, in both these categories, on the basis of the content of the acts of discrimination committed.

1. DISCRIMINATION DENVING RIGHTS

100. Discrimination has legal relevance when it consists of acts or omissions which violate legal rights. This class of discriminatory conduct may be sub-classified into two groups:

(a) Discriminatory conduct by an official authority (the central government; the member state, regional or provincial governments; the municipal government; or any other government), by any of their organs (legislative, administrative or executive, judicial); or by any of their agents;

(b) Discriminatory conduct by private people.

101. Discrimination committed by public organs or officials may be further classified as follows:

- (1) Unequal treatment in the form of disabilities;
- (2) Unequal treatment in the form of privileges; and
- (3) Unequal treatment in the form of odious obligations.

A still further classification may be made on the basis of different types of rights violated or restricted.

102. The main types of discriminatory conduct with legal effects, in violation of equality of human rights, committed by officials, are listed

below. With respect to all the types of discrimination by public authoritics so listed, the following distinctions have been taken into consideration:

(a) Establishment of legal rules (statutes, regulations, etc.) which imply discrimination against one or more particular social groups;

(b) Enforcement of statutes or regulations by executive, administrative or judicial officials;

(c) Administrative acts or judicial decisions, taken arbitrarily by authorities or officials without any legal basis, or contrary to the law.

In the first case, discrimination is committed by the legislator or by an authority entitled to enact laws; in the second case, it is committed by executive, administrative or judicial officials in carrying out the law; in the third case, it is committed by administrative officials or judges, acting outside the law or contrary to the law.

2. DISCRIMINATION BY PUBLIC OFFICIALS

(a) Public discrimination in the form of disabilities

103. A. Unequal recognition of the human person before the law:

(a) Establishment or enforcement of any regulation which implies a denial or restriction of the full effects of the individual person before the law, on account of his membership in a particular social group;¹

(b) Any concrete measure, action, or omission contrary to, or outside the law, by a public offi al, which-implies a denial or restriction of the legal personality of an individual because he belongs to a particular social group.

104. B. Inequality in personal security:

(a) Establishment or enforcement of specific legal barriers to, or restrictions upon, the personal security of an individual because he belongs to a particular social group;

(b) Any administrative or executive action, contrary to, or outside the law, imposing arbitrary arrests, detention, or exile upon an individual because he belongs to a particular social group;

(c) Establishment or enforcement of any specific legal norm denying or restricting the rights of non-interference with the privacy, family, home and correspondence of individuals because they belong to a particular social group;

(d) Any interference contrary to or outside the law by any authority or its agents with the privacy, family, home or correspondence, or attack upon the honour and reputation, of an individual because he belongs to a particular social group;

¹As used here, the expression "particular social group" refers to any group mentioned in article 2 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, such as race, colour, sex, language, religion, political or other opinion, national or social origin, property, birth or other status.

(e) Any legal measure or administrative action incompatible with a social and international order in which the rights and freedoms set forth in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights can be fully realized;

(f) Establishment or enforcement of rules implying any inequality in the administration of justice as regards individuals belonging to a particular social group, such as inequality in judicial guarantees of a public hearing, a fair trial by impartial judges, assumption of innocence, etc.;

(g) Any arbitrary judicial decision implying the denial or restriction of any of the rights mentioned in the preceding paragraph to an individual because he belongs to a particular social group;

(h) Establishment or enforcement of rules implying an increase in the penalties imposed on a convicted individual because of his membership in a particular social group;

(i) Any judicial decision contrary to or outside the law imposing a heavier penalty upon an individual because he belongs to a particular social group;

(j) Any arbitrary administrative measure taken by police or penitentiary officials, implying an actual aggravation of the penalty imposed upon a convicted individual, because of his membership in a particular social group;

(k) Establishment or enforcement of rules excluding the individuals of a particular social group from participating as members of juries, or restricting their participation on equal terms;

(1) Any arbitrary administrative or judicial action denying or restricting equality in the enjoyment of the rights mentioned in the preceding paragraph, by any individual because of his membership in a particular social group;

(m) Establishment or enforcement of rules prohibiting or restricting access to the legal profession by an individual because he belongs to a particular social group; and

(n) Any arbitrary administrative or judicial action prohibiting or restricting access to the legal profession to any individual on account of his membership in a particular social group.

105. C. Inequality in freedom of movement and residence:

(a) Establishment or enforcement of specific legal barriers to, or restrictions on, the right of freedom of movement within the borders of a State of individuals because they belong to a particular social group;

(b) Any arbitrary administrative action denying an individual the right to freedom of movement within the borders of his State because he belongs to a particular social group;

(c) Establishment or enforcement of any law compelling individuals, because they belong to a particular social group, to reside in certain zones, ghettoes, or reserved areas; (d) Any arbitrary administrative action compelling an individual to reside in a certain area because he belongs to a particular social group;

(e) Establishment or enforcement of laws determining restricted areas which are "forbidden" to individuals because of a particular social group;

(f) Any arbitrary administrative measure creating a restricted area forbidden to individuals of a particular social group;

(g) Establishment or enforcement of any rule forbidding individuals (nationals or foreigners) to leave the country, because of their membership in a particular social group;

(h) Any arbitrary administrative action preventing any individual from leaving the country because of his membership in a particular social group;

(i) Establishment or enactment of any regulations forbidding individuals belonging to a particular social group to return to their home country;

(j) Any arbitrary administrative action preventing an individual from returning to his home country because he belongs to a particular social group;

(k) Any administrative measure violating the migration laws of a State, implying a denial of the rights granted by such laws; or an unequal application of such laws, to individuals because they belong to a particular social group;

(1) Establishment or enforcement of specific legal barriers to, or restrictions upon, transit through a State, imposed on individuals because they belong to a particular social group;

(m) Any arbitrary administrative measure prohibiting transit through a State to an individual on account of his membership in a particular social group;

(n) Establishment or enforcement of any regulation denying or restricting the right of an individual belonging to a particular social group to seek, and to enjoy, asylum from persecution;

(0) Any arbitrary administrative measure denying or restricting the right indicated in the preceding paragraph to an individual, because he belongs to a particular social group.

106. D. Inequality in the recognition and protection of the right of freedom of thought, conscience and religion:

(a) Establishment or enforcement of any law or regulation implying the denial or restriction of the right of freedom of thought, conscience and religion of individuals because they belong to a particular social group; and

(b) Any arbitrary administrative measure denying or restricting the right of the freedom of thought, conscience or religion of individuals because they belong to a particular social group.

107. E. Inequality in the enjoyment of the right of freedom of opinion and expression and freedom to receive and impart information:

(a) Establishment or enforcement of any regulation denying or restricting the freedom of individuals to hold and to express opinions, to seek or receive information and ideas, through any media regardless of frontiers, because they belong to a particular social group; and

(b) Any arbitrary administrative measure denying or restricting the right of individuals to the full enjoyment of any of the freedoms listed in the preceding paragraph because they belong to a particular social group.

108. F. Inequality in the enjoyment of the right of freedom of peaceful association:

(a) Establishment or enforcement of rules denying or restricting the right of individuals of a particular social group to freedom of peaceful assembly;

(b) Any arbitrary administrative action denying or restricting the right of any individual to freedom of peaceful assembly because of his membership in a particular social group;

(c) Establishment or enforcement of laws or regulations denying or restricting the right of individuals, belonging to a particular social group, to freedom of peaceful association or denying or restricting their right to enter into, or to leave an association; or compelling them to belong to an association; and

(d) Any arbitrary administrative action against any individual because he belongs to a particular social group, implying denial or restriction of the right of peaceful association, of entering into an association, of abandoning it, or compelling him to belong to an association.

109. G. Inequality of treatment of those born out of wedlock:

(a) Establishment or enforcement of specific legal barriers to, or restrictions upon, the recognition, guarantee and effective realization of the human rights of individuals born out of wedlock; and

(b) Any arbitrary administrative or judicial measure denying or restricting any human rights of an individual born out of wedlock.

110. H. Inequality in the enjoyment of the right to marry and to found a family:

(a) Establishment or enforcement of specific legal barriers to, or restrictions on, the right to marry a person of different ethnic origin, colour, religion, class, language, political opinion, or on the right to found a family, of individuals because they belong to a particular social group; and

(b) Any arbitrary administrative or judicial measure implying a denial or restriction of the rights mentioned in the preceding paragraph.

111. I. Inequality in the enjoyment of the right of free choice of employment, and inequality in business and professional opportunities:

(a) Establishment or enforcement of specific legal barriers to, or restrictions upon, the eligibility for employment or promotion of individuals because they belong to a particular social group;

(b) Any arbitrary administrative action denying or restricting the rights of individuals mentioned in the preceding paragraph because they belong to a particular social group;

(c) Establishment or enforcement of distinctions in working conditions, rates of pay, days of rest, vacations, etc., applying solely or principally to individuals belonging to a particular social group;

(d) Any arbitrary administrative measure, along the lines of those enumerated in the preceding paragraph, against an individual because he belongs to a particular social group;

(e) Refusal to enforce accepted standards, particularly those regarding child labour and the protection of women, with respect to individuals belonging to a particular social group;

(f) Customary training, recruitment, and employment policies or procedures of State establishments or State-controlled labour unions, which prohibit the hiring of individuals belonging to a particular social group, limit the number which can be hired, restrict their assignment to certain types of work or to certain physical areas, limit their possibilities of en-the-job training (including apprenticeship) or promotion, or make them more liable to discharge; as well as customary arrangements or practices which prevent or discourage such individuals from training for, entering into, or engaging in particular professions or types of business (such as the arbitrary refusal to teach, to patronize, or to assist financially such individuals or groups of people in their efforts to enter or engage in such professions or types of business);

(g) Confinement, by law or practice, of the activities of individuals of a particular social group, engaged in a business or profession, to dealings with individuals or groups of the same or lower social standing only; as well as governmental licensing arrangements which have the effect of prohibiting or inhibiting the entry of such individuals into certain businesses or professions.

112. J. Inequality in the regulation and treatment of ownership:

(a) Establishment or enforcement of specific legal barriers to, or restrictions upon, the ownership of property by individuals solely because they belong to a particular social group;

(b) Any arbitrary administrative or judicial measure implying such denial or restrictions as are mentioned in the preceding paragraph;

(c) Arbitrary confiscation, destruction, or alteration of any form of property legally owned by individuals of a particular social group;

(d) Failure actively to guarantee the prohibition of trespassing upon the property owned by the individuals of a particular social group;

(e) Establishment or enforcement, through licensing arrangements, of barriers to the ownership or use of certain goods (for example, automobiles, aeroplanes, radios, etc.) by members of a particular social group; and

(f) In the case of earnings, official recognition of the custom of regarding the pay of an unmarried person as the property of the head of the family, or the pay of a married woman as the property of her husband.

113. K. Inequality in the protection of authorship:

(a) Establishment or enforcement of specific rules denying or restricting the protection of the moral and material interests resulting from any scientific, literary or artistic production by an individual because he belongs to a particular social group; and

(b) Any arbitrary administrative or judicial action denying or restricting an individual in the protection referred to in the preceding paragraph because he belongs to a particular social group.

114. L. Inequality of opportunity for education or the development of ability or talent:

(a) Establishment or enforcement of rules denying or restricting the access of the individuals of a particular social group to public, private or religious schools, or to other opportunities for the development of ability or talent through education;

(b) Inadequate enforcement, or non-enforcement, of the compulsory features of educational systems, in so far as members of particular social groups are concerned;

(c) Establishment, in law or in practice, of inferior State or State-supported schools for members of particular social groups, with respect to:

(1) Curricula,

(2) Qualifications of teachers, pay and opportunities for promotion, or

(3) Libraries, playgrounds, athletic fields, school lunches, school medical care and treatment, special classes and arrangements for the physically defective, etc.;

(d) Establishment or enforcement, by law or in practice, of quota or percentage systems, limiting the number of members of particular social groups who can attend State or State-supported schools or receive certain types of instruction therein; and

(e) Any arbitrary administrative action implying any denial or restriction of those rights referred to in the preceding paragraphs (a) to (d), to individuals solely because they are members of a particular social group.

115. M. Inequality of opportunity for sharing the benefits of culture:

(a) Establishment or enforcement of specific legal barriers to, or restrictions upon, the free participation in the cultural life of the community, enjoyment of the arts, and a share in scientific advancement and its benefits, by individuals belonging to a particular social group; and

(b) Any arbitrary administrative action denying or restricting the rights mentioned in the preceding paragraph to an individual solely because he belongs to a particular social group.

116. N. Inequality in services rendered:

(a) Establishment or enforcement of specific legal barriers to, or restrictions upon, the access of individuals belonging to a particular social group to:

(1) Publicly-distributed or rationed commodities,

(2) Public assistance and social security programmes,

(8) Public housing programmes,

(4) Public health and hospitalization programmes,

(5) Public services, including post-offices, transportation systems, banking and loan facilities, etc.

(6) Public recreational facilities, including parks, playgrounds, public libraries, etc.;

(b) Establishment by law or practice of inferior public services for members of particular social groups; and

(c) Any arbitrary administrative action or judicial decision denying or restricting the enjoyment of benefits of the services mentioned in the two preceding paragraphs to individuals belonging to a particular social group.

117. O. Inequality in the enjoyment of the right to a nationality:

(a) Establishment or enforcement of specific legal barriers or restrictions implying the denial to individuals of a particular social group of the right to a nationality, or of the right to change their nationality;

(b) Any arbitrary administrative act or omission denying or restricting the rights mentioned in the preceding paragraph to individuals belonging to a particular social group.

118. P. Inequality in the enjoyment of the democratic right to participate in government:

(a) Establishment or enforcement of specific legal barriers to, or restrictions upon, the right of individuals to vote or to be elected because they belong to a particular social group; (b) Extension of the definition of legal incompetence to include all members of a particular social group solely because they are members of that group;

(c) Establishment of property, literacy, education, local citizenship, or other qualifications having no necessary connexion with the process of selecting candidates or casting votes, which in practice have the effect of limiting or restricting opportunities open to members of a particular social group;

(d) Accordance, by law, of a lesser weight to the votes of members of particular social groups;

(e) Adoption of voting systems which are inconvenient for members of particular social groups;

(f) Adoption of systems of taxation, in connexion with voting procedures, which in practice have the effect of limiting or restricting the right to vote of members of particular social groups;

(g) Division of the population for electoral purposes in such a manner that the votes of members of particular social groups are widely diffused and therefore play a less important part in the voting procedure;

(h) Permitting members of particular social groups to vote only in the less important elections or for the less important posts; and

(i) Refusal to acknowledge the legally established rights of members of particular social groups.

119. Q. Inequality in access to public office:

(a) Establishment or enforcement of rules denying or restricting the right of individuals to be appointed to a non-political, non-confidential public office because of their membership in such a group;

(b) Any arbitrary administrative action or omission, or judicial decision, denying or restricting the right of any individual, because he belongs to a particular social group, to appointment to a non-political, nonconfidential public office for which he qualifies as the most suitable candidate.

120. R. Inequality on the ground of political, jurisdictional and international status:

Any measures implying distinction on the ground of political, jurisdictional or international status of the country or territory to which a person belongs.

(Note: In connexion with the question of distinctions "on the basis of the political, jurisdictional or international status of the country or territory to which a person belongs", it should be borne in mind that the Charter of the United Nations recognizes, in Article 73, the existence of territories whose peoples have not yet attained a full measure of self-government. The members of the United Nations which have responsibility for the administration of such territories have agreed, inter alia,

"... (b) To develop self-government, to take due account of the political aspirations of the peoples, and to assist them in the progressive development of their free political institutions according to the particular circumstances of each territory and its peoples and their varying stages of advancement ...")

121. S. Inequality of treatment in specific cases:

Inequalities established by so-called "racial" laws fall into the categories mentioned above. However, since they have constituted an especially effective method of discrimination against members of particular social groups, they may be repeated and listed as follows:

(a) Legislation establishing special courts for the trial of cases involving individuals belonging to particular social groups;

(b) Legislation subjecting such individuals to police, instead of court jurisdiction;

(c) Legislation compelling such individuals:

- 1. To register, declare, or sell their real or personal property;
- 2. To move from their homes to other areas;
- 8. To give up their means of earning a livelihood, or
- 4. To observe curfew restrictions;

(d) Legislation restricting such individuals to trading on certain days, at certain hours, or in certain places, etc.

(b) Public discrimination manifested by the granting of privileges

122. Privileges may be justified in particular cases, provided that they do not result in (a) a denial or restriction of the human rights of any individual belonging to a non-privileged social group; or (b) illegitimate transference of social groups into recognized legal categories.

123. By (a) is meant that privileges ought not to consist of measures the effect of which is to create inequality in the exercise of human rights. By (b) is meant that the categories of people to whom privileges are granted must be established by the law and not be merely a legal recognition of existing social groups, unless the purpose is to protect minorities. For example, it would be inadmissible to grant a certain legal privilege to white or to coloured people, or to Catholics or to Protestants, because by such action the law would recognize social differences which did not previously have any legal effect. But it might be admissible to grant exemption from taxation to the promoters of a new industry, to give allowances to owners undertaking to provide sanitation in unhealthy regions, or to grant scholarships to outstanding but poor students, etc. Nor should the privilege result in a burden on the nonprivileged; for example, if too large a category of people, or if too many categories, are exempted from taxation, the burden of taxes would then fall unduly upon those liable for them.

124. The following privileges may be considered as acts of discrim. ination:

(a) Special opportunities for public service, open only to individuals belonging to particular social groups;

(b) Special weight given to votes of members of particular social groups;

(c) Special exemption from the law for members of particular social groups;

(d) Special limitations on the right of members of particular social groups to own property or certain kinds of property;

(e) Special provisions with respect to transportation facilities applying to members of particular social groups;

(f) Special employment, business or professional opportunities for members of particular social groups;

(g) Special facilities for the education of members of particular social groups, or for the development of their abilities or talents;

(h) Special privileges for information media operated by, or intended for the use of, members of particular social groups;

(i) Special public and private services for members of particular social groups;

(j) Special legal exemptions for members of particular social groups (such as exemption from taxation, military services, etc.), with the exception of lawful privileges and immunities such as those accorded diplomats, members of legislatures, etc.

(c) Public discrimination imposing odious duties

125. The imposition of duties which are considered base or odious upon individuals, solely because they belong to particular social groups, constitutes a third major category of discriminatory practices. Methods by which these obligations are imposed include the following:

(a) Imposition of forced or compulsory labour, or slavery, upon members of particular social groups;

(b) Imposition of special taxes upon members of particular social groups;

(c) Enforcement of laws or customs compelling members of par ticular social groups:

(1) To wear or otherwise display special distinguishing marks;

(2) To carry special identification papers;

(3) To obtain special passports, visas, or other forms of permission for movement either within, or outside, their own country or territory, in addition to those normally required of all individuals; or

(4) To undertake tasks which are considered to be beneath the dignity of members of other social groups.

8. LEGITIMATE DISTINCTIONS WHICH DO NOT CONSTITUTE DISCRIMINATION

126. Many distinctions, established by law, do not constitute discrimination because they are established on just grounds and apply to all alike, not merely to members of certain particular social groups. Examples of these include:

(a) Legal incompetence due to minority, to criminality, to insanity, or to absence from the country;

(b) Restriction of liberty in virtue of lawful arrest or conviction;

- (c) Denial of political rights to foreigners;
- (d) Lawful expropriation with fair indemnity;
- (e) Diplomatic immunities;

(f) Inviolability and immunities of members of Parliament, etc.

The above list is not intended to be exhaustive.

4. DISCRIMINATION BY PRIVATE PERSONS

127. The most serious forms of discrimination are those embodied in laws and regulations, legally establishing or permitting acts of discrimination; those practised by authorities and public officials in enforcing the law, and the arbitrary discriminatory measures taken by such authorities and public officials. But discriminatory behaviour by private persons must also be taken into account. Conduct which explicitly constitutes discrimination by private persons may be either:

(a) Acts or omissions by private persons the effect of which is to deny or limit the legal rights of individuals belonging to particular social groups; and

(b) Other acts which do not involve any legal infraction, but actually result in discriminatory treatment in social relations.

128. Before analysing and listing these forms of discrimination, some examples may be described. One form is the denial of equal access to opportunities: opportunities for employment may be denied to individuals belonging to a particular social group, or members of such a group are given employment only in menial tasks; or if they obtain better jobs, these jobs are restricted to a very small number; or they have to meet insurmountable difficulties in obtaining promotions; or the salaries paid to them are lower; or they are compelled to work under less favourable labour conditions; or vacations, as well as other advantages, are denied them or restricted. 129. Another form of discrimination by private persons is manifested in the refusal to admit members of particular social groups to housing areas occupied by privileged groups, which results in segregation. The groups discriminated against are in practice reduced to living in areas for members of their own groups only. Such areas or ghettos are usually characterized by poor sanitation, congestion, and scant facilities for recreation.

130. A third form of discrimination by private persons consists in denying individuals of the group discriminated against entry into, or use of, hotels, cafes, restaurants, theatres, or other places of entertainment or recreation; or the use of certain means of transportation, or other services or facilities, when these establishments or institutions are operated by private individuals or companies. The two latter forms of discrimination produce segregation in social relations, and lead to the opening of specific hotels, cafes, restaurants, theatres, or other places of entertainment, vehicles, etc., for the groups discriminated against.

131. A fourth form of discrimination by private persons is the refusat to enter into social relations with an individual, solely because he belongs to a particular social group.

132. Finally, there is a fifth form of discrimination which involves disguised and sometimes explicit libelling of particular social groups. This ranges from insidious and malicious misrepresentation of facts and the presentation of distorted types or caricatures, to open libel against such groups and explicit demands for both social and legal discrimination. Such libel may take many forms. When a misdeed is committed by an individual belonging to the group discriminated against, his membership in that group is emphasized in newspapers or other media of communication: "Negro robs woman"; "Jew exploits poor workers"; "Alien breaks the law"; "Woman barred from faculty"; "Radical runs away with the funds of the Union", etc. This procedure may also be reversed and the news concerning the heroic and noble acts of members of the groups discriminated against suppressed or toned down. Caricatures of members of such groups are also propagated. Many plays, sketches, and motion-pictures in which characters representing particular social groups appear show such characters in stereotypes: The Negro as a happy clown or a criminal; the Jew as a ruthless moneylender; the alien who has been unable to adapt himself to the customs of his new home; the lower-class man living outside the law, etc.

133. No one, of course, can be forced to sympathize. Sentiments – as well as ideas – are incoercible. It is impossible to compel anyone to think or feel in a particular way. Even by resorting to torture, it is not possible to create or change ideas and sympathies. Moreover, freedom of thought and opin on is one of the fundamental freedoms proclaimed by the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, and any attempt to influence ideas or sentiments by coercive measures would constitute a violation of this fundamental right.

184. The problem is different as regards external behaviour. There are, of course, many acts which should not be repressed by compulsion, since they are only the external expression of ideas, of sentiments and opinions, of likes and dislikes, the freedom of which is recognized. On the other hand, there are external forms of behaviour which imply an unjustified denial or restriction of the rights of others; such forms of behaviour may be restrained by legal means without interfering with the rights of individual freedom.

135. Applying these principles to discrimination, one must differentiate between discrimination which cannot be compulsorily restrained by the law, and discrimination which may be eradicated by legal measures.

136. Conduct with a discriminatory background or intention, but not amenable to enforced correction, includes such things as: not sending children to a school because it is attended by too many children belonging to a particular social group, and preferring another in which the director and a majority of the teaders and children belong to the parents' own group; not buying in certain stores because they are owned by members of a given race, class or church, or, on the contrary, patronizing various establishments because the owners are in the patron's own social set. Such conduct implies discrimination, and may produce very harmful effects; but it cannot be abolished or restrained directly by measures of coercion; it may only be counteracted in the long run through education.

137. Following are a few examples of types of discriminatory acts by private people which may be directly suppressed by law:

(a) Any obvious and unequivocally intentional libel against a particular social group in general, expressed directly or indirectly (through attributing the cause of the misdeed of an individual to the characteristic of the particular social group to which he belongs);

(b) Any deliberate act clearly intended to arouse public opinion to restrict individuals of particular social group, in the free exercise of their legal rights, participation in educational or cultural opportunities, sharing in the benefits of public services, access to public office, or in voting procedures;

(c) Any act which makes it physically difficult, hazardous or impossible for individuals of a particular social group freely to exercise their rights or take part in the activities enumerated in paragraph (b);

(d) Any act building to incite people to acts of violence against individuals of a particular social group or against that group as a whole;

(e) Any covenant denying or restricting the right of individuals of a particular social group to acquire property of any kind (by legal means), or to use or transfer it according to general laws;

(i) Any concrete act committed by proprietors, managers, or employees of stores, implying explicit or implicit denial to sell goods offered for public purchase to individuals belonging to a particular social group;

(g) Any act by proprietors, managers or employees of a banking or credit institution denying or restricting the enjoyment by members of a particular social group of the facilities generally offered to the public;

(h) The denial or restriction of the right to buy property, the sale of which has been publicly offered to the highest bidder;

(i) Any act committed by proprietors, managers, employees or agents, of restaurants, cafes, theatres, moving picture houses, and other places of entertainment, open to the public, implying either prohibition of entry or segregation of members of any particular social group, on the grounds of their membership in that group, and not for legitimate reasons relating to the individual (such as drunkenness, uncleanliness, or indecent behaviour);

(j) Any act committed by proprietors, managers, employees or agents of transportation enterprises denying or limiting access of, or imposing segregation on, individuals of a particular social group;

(k) Any act committed by proprietors, managers, or employees of an industrial, commercial or cultural enterprise which imposes employment restrictions on individuals belonging to a particular social group, or hinders their pronotion;

(1) Any act committed by proprietors, managers or employees of industrial, commercial, or cultural institutions establishing or enforcing detrimental distinctions in working conditions, rates of pay, days of rest, vacations, which apply only or principally to individuals belonging to a particular social group;

(m) Any refusal by proprietors, managers or employees of industrial, commercial or cultural enterprises to enforce labour standards, particularly those relating to ch.ld labour and the protection of women, for individuals belonging to a particular social group;

(n) Any act or omission by proprietors, trustees, directors, supervisors and teachers of private schools which establishes or enforces barriers to or restrictions on the access of individuals belonging to a particular social group to classes or recreation, or which segregates them, or imposes quota systems or special educational systems;

(o) Any teaching of discrimination of any kind in private schools; and

(p) Any act committed by proprietors, managers or employees of news or information enterprises which bars or restricts the use of any media of information by individuals belonging to a particular social group, either by general, particular, or other measures.

Chapter VI

Legal Measures for Preventing Discrimination

A. THE EFFECTIVE POWER OF THE LAW AND ITS LIMITS

138. Although it may not be possible completely to eradicate discrimination by law, many forms of discriminatory conduct may be suppressed or greatly lessened by legal measures.

139. Although law affords a powerful instrument for changing social conditions, those conditions themselves set certain limits to the scope of practicable legislation and adequate enforcement. Attempts to overstep these limits may defeat themselves and even kick back upon their authors. But there is ample scope, even with these limits, for promoting social advance through legislation.

140. The most important ways in which the law acts as a factor in preventing discrimination are:

(a) It fosters the conviction that discrimination is wrong by fixing standards which are respected by the great majority of people.

(b) People who have little respect for the law are nevertheless afraid of the consequences of unlawful conduct; they therefore obey the law in order to avoid its penalties.

(c) In both cases and whatever the motive, the resulting daily behaviour tends to create social customs which are in harmony with the law; these customs constitute a powerful collective force.

(d) The law can also help repair the harm produced by unlawful conduct, in so far as it can provide indemnities and reparation for the person wronged.

141. Social conditions in many parts of the world have developed to a point where it is possible to enact new legislation prohibiting many discriminatory practices. The very fact that the United Nations has adopted the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, and established the Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minorities, indicates that the eradication of discrimination is considered to be possible.

142. Some forms of discrimination cannot be abolished by law because they are beyond the reach of legal action; but law can and should suppress all discriminatory acts which imply a denial or violation of legal equality. 143. The law, however, can control prejudice only indirectly because it is a matter of the mind which is and should be outside the action of the legal rules. Nor can discrimination be cradicated by law alone. There are also many subtle forms of discrimination against which coercion is of little use.

144. On the other hand, there are other forms of purely social discrimination which, even though they cannot be suppressed by legal coercion, may be lessened by certain administrative measures which do not imply compulsion, but which rather tend to bring about a change in these conditions, such as, for example, rendering positive services to the groups discriminated against.

145. The law should not, however, be used to interfere unduly with individual freedom. Important as is the prevention of discrimination, individual freedom is at least equally important. Individual freedom does not of course include the right to commit acts which are clearly and unequivocally defined as offences. But in the case of freedom of speech and all the other forms of expression of opinion, there are zones in which it is both very difficult and dangerous to draw the line between legitimate and illegitimate exercise of liberty. The legal-judicial mechanism is particularly ill-equipped to draw a line between proper comment or legitimate criticism on the one hand, and malicious libel of a group on the other hand. To widen the field of legal intervention too greatly would unduly restrict liberty of thought and speech. "When we outlaw any doctrine, no matter how detestable we think it, we give to the prosecutor and the judge a discretionary power that can easily become the wedge of tyranny cutting into the first of all liberties".1 Only in the clearest cases of insult or outright libel, and then only with the greatest discretion, if at all, and in cases of definite incitement to violence, should the intervention of the law be sought. Moreover, even as regards malicious utterances against particular social groups, there is a field which cannot be controlled by law, namely, the surreptitious spreading of rumours and insidious remarks.

146. Finally, there is another consideration which points toward restraint in recourse to certain forms of legal action, namely, the danger of producing effects contrary to those desired. This may happen in two ways:

(1) The fact that legal action is taken may cause resentment, which accentuates the prejudice against which the law is directed;

(2) The fact that legal action is taken, by the publicity associated with it, gives undue importance and notoriety to the scandal-monger and rabble-rouser. In this age of mass communications, the prosecution of persons who have uttered malicious statements fostering discrimination multiplies a thousand-fold the attention paid to their

¹ R. McIver, "More Perfect Union".

utterances. It has aptly been said: "Never repeat a rumour, even to deny it; when you repeat a rumour, you are spreading the rumour".

147. The limitations on effective legal action in preventing discrimination which have been indicated are not intended to minimize the force of such action. In spite of these limitations, the law is very powerful and can prevent many forms of discrimination. Wherever there are rules which prohibit and penalize acts of discrimination, experience proves that these rules are effective, and there are still many more possibilities of using legal measures to eradicate many forms of discrimination. The limitations indicated are merely intended to show that legal action is not omnipotent. Legal rules are powerful and will probably be still more effective in the future, but their limitations must be kept in mind. It may be recalled that there are encouraging precedents for fighting discrimination by legal measures, particularly by penal laws, in international treaties and legislation, and in the constitutions of some Member States of the United Nations.

B. POSSIBLE LEGAL MEASURES TO PREVENT DISCRIMINATION

148. The enjoyment of human rights without distinction as to race, colour, sex, language, religion, political or other opinion, national or social origin, property, birth, or other status can be guaranteed to all persons within the jurisdiction of a particular State by the enactment and enforcement of legislation which (a) abrogates all laws which permit or entail any discrimination, and (b) prohibits and penalizes discrimination by both official and private persons. In countries where a distinction is made between constitutional and ordinary law, these provisions could be made part of the constitution, which could also prohibit the enactment, either by the central or local legislative organs, of any ordinary law which entails discrimination. In countries which do not recognize this distinction, recourse would have to be had to ordinary law.

C. NON-PENAL LEGAL MEASURES

149. Although the measures here outlined are already implicit in those outlined in the previous section, the attention of the Sub-Commission is drawn to the possibility of suggesting laws for the following purposes:

(a) To abrogate any existing laws or regulations implying inequality in the treatment of members of different social groups;

(b) To abrogate any existing laws or regulations implying inequality in the rights to personal security of members of a particular social group;

(c) To abrogate any laws or regulations forbidding or restricting marriage between persons of different race, colour, religion, class, language, or political opinion; (d) To abrogate any laws or regulations implying inequality in the right of freedom of movement and residence of members of particular social groups;

(e) To abrogate any laws or regulations implying inequality in the exercise of the right to freedom of thought, conscience and religion, of opinion and expression, the right to receive and impart information through any media, and in the guarantees of such rights, as between members of particular social groups;

(f) To abrogate any laws or regulations implying inequality in the right to freedom of peaceful assembly and association as between members of different social groups;

(y) To abrogate any laws or regulations restricting the rights of individuals born out of wedlock;

(h) To abrogate any laws or regulations implying inequality in the exercise of the right to free choice of employment, or inequality of treatment in business or professional opportunities or in labour conditions, as between members of different social groups;

(i) To abrogate any laws or regulations establishing specific legal barriers to, or restrictions upon, the free participation in the cultural life of the community, and the sharing in scientific advancement and its benefits, by any individual because he belongs to a particular social group;

(j) To abrogate any laws or regulations implying specific legal barriers to, or restrictions upon, the access of any individual to public services such as the public distribution of commodities, public assistance, social security, medical treatment or hospitalization, recreational facilities, because he belongs to a particular social group; and to abrogate any laws or regulations implying segregation as regards these services:

(k) To abrogate any laws or $re_{\mathcal{B}}$ ulations denying, restricting, or rendering difficult the exercise of the right to vote of members of a particular social group;

(1) To abrogate any laws or regulations denying, restricting or making difficult the election to public office of individuals belonging to a particular social group;

(m) To abrogate any laws or regulations denying, restricting or making difficult the appointment to public office of any individual because he belongs to a particular group;

(n) To abrogate any laws or regulations establishing special conditions for the trial of cases involving individuals belonging to particular social groups; or subjecting such individuals to police instead of court jurisdiction; or compelling such individuals or groups to register, declare, or sell real or personal property, or to move from their homes to other areas, or to give up their means of earning a livelihood, or to observe curfew restrictions, to trade on certain days, on certain hours, or in certain places;

(o) To declare null and void and without any legal effect all covenants denying or restricting the acquisition, lease, full use, enjoyment, or transfer of property of any kind by individuals because they belong to a particular social group;

(p) To grant a right of indemnity to individual members of particular social groups whose interests (material or moral) have suffered damage as a result of the application of any covenants referred to in the preceding paragraph, irrespective of any penalty which may be imposed in connexion with the establishment or observance of such covenants;

(q) To declare null and void all regulations and contracts of any kind concerning labour relations, which imply discrimination;

(r) To grant the right of indemnity to individuals discriminated against in labour relations, irrespective of any penalty which may be imposed in connexion with the establishment or observance of such regulations and contracts;

(s) To declare null and void all laws and regulations implying either discrimination or segregation in schools and cultural institutions;

(t) To declare null and void all private regulations and arrangements implying discrimination or segregation in private schools, except religious schools when such segregation is applied solely for the purpose of religious teaching;

(u) To abrogate any law or regulation establishing any distinction between citizens by birth and citizens by nationalization, except as regards their capacity for appointment to the highest political posts; and

(v) To abrogate restrictions on women as regards their eligibility to public office and the exercise of political and civil rights.

D. PENAL MEASURES AND THEIR POSSIBLE SCOPE

150. There are certain discriminatory practices which may be discouraged by penal law. Any discriminatory act or omission committed contrary to or outside the law by administrative or executive officials, or by private individuals, could be made a criminal offence; but it is more difficult to penalize legislators who have enacted laws which imply discrimination, or who have failed or refused to enact such regulations as are necessary to prevent discrimination. The Sub-Commission may nevertheless wish to consider such a possibility.

151. The prevention of such discrimination as is implied in legislation may be indirectly achieved by various means. The first is, in those States in which this is possible, to establish legal procedures, for example, by way of recourse against constitutionality of laws implying discrimination. The second is to establish legal means for stopping any act by a public official who puts into effect a law, whether general or local, which is in conflict with constitutional provisions which prohibit discrimination, and to deny the official the possibility of objecting on the grounds that he acted in accordance with the law.

152. The Sub-Commission may consider that some forms of discrimination practised by public officials and private people should constitute penal offences. The list of discriminatory practices given above (chapter V of this memorandum) might be used in determining which acts of discrimination should be declared penal offences.

153. The Sub-Commission may wish to recommend that any act of discrimination committed by a public official, which is outside or contrary to the law, should constitute a penal offence.

154. A great number of discriminatory acts are already implicitly or explicitly defined as criminal in most legal systems, since many forms of discrimination implying denial, restriction or violation of human rights constitute offences, irrespective of the social group to which the victim belongs. For example, the violation of the sanctity of the home or of correspondence, illegal arrest, the unlawful restriction of freedom, etc., constitute offences in most penal systems. In regard to special cases of such offences, which are determined or inspired by discriminatory attitudes, new solutions might be found. Thus the fact that the victim belongs to a particular social group might be considered as an aggravating circumstance. This solution could be adopted not only in countries where a particular crime is already defined, but also in those where a new crime would have to be defined. Many legal systems already consider it to be an aggravating circumstance if the victim of a crime is at a disadvantage compared to the perpetrator of the crime. Since membership in a social group which suffers discrimination is a disadvantage, the suggested solution would be a concrete application of that criterion.

E. PUBLIC ADMINISTRATIVE MEASURES

155. Further opportunities for discouraging discrimination can be found in another field of government activity — that of the organized public services of various kinds. For example, irrespective of the legal measures which prohibit and punish the imposition of housing restrictions, governments can build houses which can be rented or sold without discrimination. It is also possible to set up administrative bodies with a view to decreasing tensions between different groups. Another suggestion (made by Dr. Gunnar Myrdal) is the setting up of independent and objective legal aid services, which, manned by highly-qualified professional lawyers, would be instructed to assist individuals of the group discriminated against to enforce their rights under existing laws in civil and criminal cases. "They should be instructed to work not only upon application of clients, but also to take initiative particularly in following the procedure in police courts and prisons." Also in line with Dr. Myrdal's suggestions, special care should be given, if and when necessary, to improve the attitude of judges and the police, in order to avoid discriminatory practices on the part of organs or agents of the State.

156. Studies might be made of the results of co-operation between individuals belonging to different groups, in economic, cultural and recreational enterprises and opportunities, etc. Finally, governments can encourage and promote the mingling of individuals of different social groups in its own institutions; for example, in military units in which all ethnic, religious, and social groups are adequately represented.

Chapter VII

Educational Measures¹

A. AIMS

157. Much can be accomplished in the prevention of discrimination through education. The principal goals of education to this end should be:

(a) To disseminate correct information and to counteract false beliefs on which prejudices and discrimination are founded, rationally or as rationalizations. Scientific truth is a scourging power which may contribute considerably to the wiping out of discrimination;

(b) To abolish, or at least diminish, such prejudices and attitudes as may engender acts of discrimination which should be suppressed by law. The law should, of course, act immediately to prevent certain forms of discrimination; it does not have to wait for changes slowly effected by education. It is possible to prevent discrimination without removing its cause. However, it is equally true that the law will be more effective if prejudices and attitudes from which discrimination originate are lessened or eradicated;

(c) To abolish, or at least to diminish, all forms of social discrimination which cannot be attacked by law.

B. FIELDS OF EDUCATION

158. In considering education we must not focus attention too exclusively on the element of schooling. This, admittedly, plays a fundamental part, but all the factors of the social environment which influence behaviour are relevant to the subject under review.

159. Education given to children in school is frequently frustrated by the contrary influences prevailing in the home and in other social institutions or circles. It is therefore necessary to harmonize school training and all other educational factors. It may be easier, however, to obtain positive results more promptly in the school than in other social spheres. The influence of the school upon children is definite and immediate, while the convictions and attitudes of adults, which are predominant in forming the social environment, can be changed only slowly. It is for this reason that the widest possible programme of adult education must be planned and developed.

C. EDUCATIONAL PRINCIPLES FOR THE PREVENTION OF DISCRIMINATION

160. Educational principles for the prevention of discrimination include:

(1) Presentation and correct explanation of facts, showing that general images including the totality or the majority of the individuals who form a social group are distorted and unfair, do not correspond to actual facts, and that every culture is made up of contributions of many different ethnic and social groups (to this end, a great many concrete examples may be given);

(2) Ethical and legal principles, with regard to human dignity, individual freedom, equality of men, fraternity and justice;

(3) Emphasis on the fact that the prevention of discrimination is not a requirement of justice only, but that discrimination is also detrimental to the development of community and national life; no community can live in peace until it becomes a place in which differences may exist without creating friction.

Educational programmes to prevent discrimination should comprise both rational and emotional appeals, closely connected. Practical experience and the findings of social research within the field of education indicate that correct information alone may not be sufficient to eradicate prejudice. A purely rational appeal may in some cases serve to increase the prejudiced person's inner conflicts and cause him to use more devious methods of discriminating. On the other hand, educational programmes which are based solely on emotion may arouse uncontrolled sentiments that result in discriminatory practices. In order to avoid these failures both elements, rational and emotional, must be combined, aiming toward the building up of adequate self-control in individuals before they become prejudiced, or toward the relief of frustration or anxiety in those who have adopted discriminatory practices as a means of solving some of their own difficulties.

D. EDUCATION IN SCHOOLS

161. Considering education in itself, and putting aside for the moment the frustrating effects of an unfavourable social atmosphere, one finds that it offers a wide field of positive results. Many educationalists have stated that education directed towards achieving justice for all, based on the recognition of equality in rights, and inspired by a true feeling of fraternity and solidarity, succeeds in the primary schools without encountering serious obstacles because the child starts his life without prejudice and scems almost incapable of hostility against any group as

¹Under resolution 116 (VI) B of the Economic and Social Council, UMESCO has been invited to take certain steps in this field.

such. On the other hand, in elementary and secondary schools certain obstacles will need to be eliminated or overcome, since most attitudes of prejudice originate in the years of late childhood and adolescence. Even when there is no discrimination in a school, pupils are sometimes affected by the prejudices of, and active indoctrination by, persons outside the school.

162. Any school programme to prevent discrimination might well take the following suggestions into account:

(a) Since practice is always more telling than precept, the first obvious measure to be undertaken is to eliminate any act of discrimination in the school, such as segregation of different social categorics of pupils in different classes and playgrounds (for segregation encourages hatred, suspicion and disrespect); or permitting pupils to voice expressions of dislike towards particular social groups; or evidence of preference for or dislike of particular groups by teachers, inspectors, etc. It would also help if, as far as feasible, each school could include in its enrolment and teaching staff representatives of all social groups. Mere routine teaching in accordance with an assigned programme is not enough. Even more important perhaps is the teacher's whole approach, the spirit that animates his teaching, his attitude toward his students, and the incidental comments he may make. For the same reason, organizations such as summer camps, scouting groups, etc. which stimulate inter-group contacts, may become very effective in carrying out education against prejudice and discrimination.

(b) A programme based on ethical principles, the cultural contributions of different social groups, and the creation of a real sense of solidarity for the good of the country as a whole could be intensively developed. This three fold programme should, of course, be suitably adapted to each stage of education.

(c) The principles mentioned in the preceding paragraph could also be developed through text-books. This implies a careful review of textbooks now in use, since many of them are prejudiced.

E. EDUCATION OUTSIDE THE SCHOOLS

163. An educational programme for the prevention of discrimination, outside the schools, would have to be a very broad one if it is to succeed. A general campaign of enlightenment might be undertaken. Such a campaign would make use of all the available means of mass communication, including the Press, pamphlets, posters, lectures, radio, moving pictures, exhibitions, etc. Such a campaign could be developed along several lines. An official campaign could be undertaken, organized and carried out by the official educational authorities and their agencies. These officials might also provide private institutions, willing to cooperate, with necessary materials. Private institutions could be encouraged to undertake similar campaigns. The official campaign would have to be developed constantly on a permanent spiritual dict, for if it were confined to certain specified periods (for example, establishing a week for the campaign against discrimination), it might only serve to draw unfavourable attention to discrimination. Special campaigns will have to be developed to cope adequately with the many different kinds of discrimination.

164. Discrimination may and does develop in all ambits of society, but it can be more serious in certain spheres than others. Special attention must be given to such spheres. These include parents' organizations, labour relations, trade unions, and sports and recreational groups.

165. Where parents' associations exist, an educational programme might be developed especially for them. If the parents could be persuaded, the teachers would be more successful in combating prejudice and discrimination in the schools.

166. Discriminatory practices frequently occur in labour relations. They take two principal forms:

(a) Discrimination by employers in their relations with employees and workers; and

(b) Discrimination among the workers.

167. Discrimination by employers varies in intensity. Some discriminatory acts of employers can be suppressed by law, but other forms, manifested in intangible or imponderable decisions and behaviour, cannot be controlled by legal measures (as, for example, discrimination in the selection of employees for confidential posts for which the employer has the decision over the appointment; or preference shown towards members of a certain social group over others whose qualifications are equal, in giving promotions). An effort must therefore be made to educate employers.

168. In so far as employees are concerned, discrimination sometimes manifests itself as a cold or hostile attitude of one group to another. In trade unions, the dominant group sometimes reduces the chances of employment or promotion available to individuals belonging to another group by this method.

169. For all these reasons a special campaign, designed to enlighten employers, workers and trade union leaders, might be developed. Employers might be taught to regard each employee as an individual, with potentialities and limitations, who takes his or her place in the enterprise on the basis of merit as a worker alone, and not because he or she belongs to a particular social group; and to open supervisory jobs to members of all social groups.

170. Among the workers, the ultimate goal is to prevent or at least to decrease the friction which may develop between groups. A programme of education might be developed to teach the workers to accept the principle that employment and promotion should be based on skill and efficiency.

171. Trade unions might be encouraged to teach their members to regard their fellow workers as equals, without any distinction based on the social group to which they belong. Unions might also be encouraged to carry on a constant, vigorous educational programme for the promotion of better understanding among their members.

172. Great success may be achieved with good educational programmes connected with sports and recreational activities, especially sports activitics in which individual skill more easily obtains recognition. Co-operation without discrimination in sports can have beneficial consequences in other relationships.

173. In cultural institutions (scientific, philosophic, artistic, etc.,) emphasis should be laid on the fact that culture has no frontiers, either in its origin or in the enjoyment of its benefits.

F. ORIENTATION AND PRINCIPAL CONTENT OF EDUCA-TIONAL PROGRAMMES

174. Modern pedagogics emphasize the fact that all educational programmes for the prevention of discrimination, both in and out of school, should aim at enlightenment and stress facts, and at the same time influence sentiment in favour of harmonious and fair social relationships. False generalizations should be refuted. It may be necessary to substitute symbols that express the truth for symbols based on ignorance and narrow interests. Education can set itself to no higher task than to teach people the lesson that prejudice blurs the vision of human reality.

175. Education should aim at showing that the consciousness of the "we" which is possessed by the members of most social groups, should not imply any condemnation of the "they" who constitute other groups.

176. The following principles might well be taken into account in any programme of education:

(A) Ethical principles

There are certain principles of civilization which have been generally accepted and which have, amongst other things, inspired the Universal Declaration of Human Rights. They are:

(a) The essential dignity of the individual human being:

- (b) Individual freedom;
- (c) Equality;
- (d) Justice; and
- (e) The motherhood of man.

(B) Correct explanation of facts

Certain facts should be stated and emphasized. Taking racial discrimination as an example (as it is the easiest to illustrate), the following facts might be presented:

(1) Anthropological

(a) The essential equality of all human beings biologically, psychologically, and in the essential functions of human life;

(b) The fact that science has proved that there is no such thing as "race" applied to human types. All peoples are ethnically mixed, and none of them is completely separated by isolating mechanisms or geographical distributions. It is a fallacy to speak of races as pure and definite types, for during the whole history of humanity there have constantly been so many ethnic intermixtures that no individual can claim to be the descendant of any one pure ethnic type;

(c) The fact that science has proved that there is no demonstrable correlation between racial types and intelligence, so that there is no natural and necessary mental superiority of certain ethnic types, or inferiority of others;

(d) The fact that peoples and nations are not formed by racial boundaries or factors, but by historical developments and cultural achievements;

(e) The fact that differences in cultural level depend on historical factors and conditions, which are the result of human action, and not of nature;

(f) The fact that none of the theories concerning the biological evils of miscegenation or mixture of races have been proved: on the contrary modern science teaches that interbreeding between different ethnic groups is sometimes biologically advantageous, increased vigour following hybridization having long been recognized by biologists. (As a matter of fact, inbreeding is now said to tend to stabilize the type and, in the long run, to diminish in vigour, while outbreeding increases the variability of the type and gives evolutionary processes a greater opportunity to work. Increases in stature and fertility are among the most important characteristics of hybridization.)

(2) Sociological

(a) Facts which show that all the great civilizations have been the result of contributions of men and women belonging to different social groups, from the point of view of ethnic origin, class status, religion, etc.;

(b) Facts which show that a nation is not biologically uniform but a complex integration of many different people who have contributed, and are contributing to its development;

(c) The fact that humanity is indebted to all peoples and all social groups that have acted throughout human history.

(C) National welfare and international peace

Not only would the abolition of prejudice and discrimination encourage national unity and welfare, it would also increase the universal solidarity of mankind and help bring about world peace.

G. DANGERS TO BE AVOIDED

177. Any educational campaign against prejudice and discrimination should be planned and executed with the greatest care if results contrary to those desired are to be avoided. Forcing a prejudiced person to read or hear exhortations on tolerance may only increase his prejudice. Over-enthusiastic appraisals of the contributions of a minority may create a reaction of distaste for members of that minority; and programmes improperly presented, even with the best intentions, may create an awareness of group differences which did not previously exist.

H. INTER-GROUP CONTACTS

178. Another means which may be used to break down barriers between different social groups is the stimulation of contacts between members of such groups. These contacts may be made in dealing with common tasks, common problems, or common dangers, which require members of one group to deal realistically with members of another.

179. The effective use of spontaneous inter-group contacts for this purpose involves the stimulation of common life experiences. This can be accomplished in many ways, such as:

(a) The promotion of inter-group discussions, meetings, and social activities which provide an opportunity for face-to-face contacts;

(b) The integration of members of the minority into jobs, schools, public positions, etc., where they are in daily contact with members of the majority; and

(c) The formation of committees and other official or semi-official groups to which members of the majority and minority groups are appointed on an equal footing.

I. RESEARCH WORK RELATING TO EDUCATIONAL PRO-GRAMMES FOR THE PREVENTION OF DISCRIMINATION

180. This memorandum has dealt only with the general principles which might inspire education for the purpose of preventing discrimination. On the basis of these general principles, concrete programmes might be established by experts in every branch of education. But still another task might be accomplished. Research work might be undertaken in order to determine the best means to be applied in education to this end. Such research work might have many aspects, and cover several fields. 181. One of those fields might consis. in research by means of interviews, tests, surveys, etc., on the different types of prejudice and the most fitting means of eradicating the various types. Another field of research might be covered by psychiatrists. Many hostile attitudes, prejudices, dislikes, etc., which at first glance seem to be relatively simple behaviour, have a very dark and complicated origin in the zones of subconsciousness. In order to bring these origins to light, and to find the proper therapeutic means of combating them, work by psychiatrists and psychoanalysts may be necessary. Research work in sociology might also be undertaken; this is particularly important since discrimination is after all a social fact and should therefore be analysed from a sociological point of view.

182. The results of such research work, as well as the goals at which the prevention of discrimination aims, should be taken into account in drawing up educational procedures. This task might best be entrusted to experts in education, for they are best qualified to draw up practical plans.

183. Research might also be undertaken for the purpose of:

(a) Discovering areas where educational programmes in these fields have proved successful, and studying the techniques which provide the best results;

(b) Discovering areas where educational programmes in these fields have not proved successful, and seeking to determine the reasons for their failure, in order to correct and improve such programmes.

Selected Bibliography on Discrimination and Related Subjects¹

A

- Abboth, Edith: Historical Aspects of the Immigration Problem. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, 1926.
- Abensour, L.: Problème féministe. Un cas d'aspiration collective vers l'égalite. Editions Radot, 1927.
- Ackerman, N. W. and Jahoda, M.: Towards a Dynamic Interpretation of Anti-Semitic Attitudes. Amer. J. Orthopsychiatry, XVIII, 1, 163-173, Jan. 1948.
- Ackiss, T. D.: Sociopsychological Implications of the "White-Supremacy" Complex. Amer. J. Soc., LI, 142, 1945.
- Adamic, Louis: From Many Lands. Harper and Bros., New York, 1940.
- Adams, Harold E.: Minority Caricatures on the American Stage, Studies in the Science of Society, ed. by George P. Murdock. Yale University Press, New Haven, 1937.
- Adams, James Truslow: The American. Charles Scribner's Sons, 1943.
- Adams, R.: Interracial Marriage in Hawaii. Macmillan, New York, 1937.
- Agramonte, R.: Sociología. 2 volumes. La Habana, 1946, 1947.
- Akzin, B., Ancel, M., Mirkine-Guetzevitch, B., Ray, J.: La nationalité dans la science sociale et le droit contemporain, Paris, 1983.
- Albornoz, Alvaro de: La politica religiosa de la Republica, Madrid: Tip. de S. Quemades, 1985.
- Albrecht, Gerhard: Die sozialen Klassen. Leipzig, 1926.
- Alexander, Franz: Discussion of "Hostility and Fear in Social Life" by John Dollard. Social Forces, 17:27-29 (1938).
- Allport, Floyd and Katz, Daniel: Students' Attitudes. Craftsman Press, Syracuse, New York, 1931.
- Allport, Gordon W.: The Use of Personal Documents in Psychological Science. Social Science Research Council Bulletin 49, New York, 1942.
- Allport, Gordon W.: Catharsis and the Reduction of Prejudice. Journal of Social Issues, 1 (3): 3-10, 1945.
- Allport, Gordon W. and Kramer, Bernard M.: Some Roots of Prejudice. Journal of Psychology, 22:9-39, 1946.
- Alvarez, Agustin: La transformación de las razas en América. 1908.
- Alvarez, Agustín: South América: Ensayos de Psicologia política. 1894.
- American Council on Race Relations: Public Relations Workshop (Summary). September 27-8-9, 1946. Chicago, 1947.
- Andara, J. L.: Evolución política y social de Venezuela.
- Annis, Albert D.: The Relative Effectiveness of Cartoons and Editorials as Propaganda Media (Abstract). Psychological Bulletin, 36:638, 1939.

¹ This bibliography is not intended to be exhaustive; it includes only titles in English. French, Spanish, Portuguese, German and a few other languages.

- Aptheker, H.: Essays in the History of the American Negro. International Publishers, New York, 1945.
- Aptheker, H.: To be Free: Studies in American History. International Publishers, New York, 1948.
- Aptheker, Herbert: The Negro People in America. International Publishers, New York, 1946.
- Arcaya, Pedro Manuel: Ensayos de Sociología venezolana. 1918.

Archer, William: Through Afro-America; an English reading of the race problem. London: Chapman and Hall, Ltd. 1910.

- Arcinicgas, Germán: América tierra firme, 1939.
- Arendt, H.: Race-Thinking Before Racism. Rev. Pol., VI, 36-78, 1944.
- Arguedas, Alcides: La danza de las sombras: apuntes sobre cosas, gentes y gentezuelas de la América espanola. 1934.
- Arguedas, Alcides: Un pueblo enfermo: contribución a la psicología de los pueblos hispano-americanos, 1937.
- Arnold. The as W.: "Tolerance, Muhammadan", Hastings' Encyclopedia of Religion and Ethnics.
- Asher, R. and Sargent, S. S.: Shifts in Attitude Caused by Cartoon Caricatures. Journal of General Psychology, 24:451-455, 1941.
- Ashley-Montague, Montague Francis: Man's Most Dangerous Myths: The Fallacy of Race. Col. Press, New York, 1342.
- Auerhan, Jan: Die Sprachlichen Minderheiten in Europa. Berlin, 1926.
- Austri-Dunn, Isaias: La Cuestion Judia y el Sionismo. El Libro Perfecto. Mexico, D. F. 1947.

B

- Báez, Camargo; Bonzalo, and Grubb, Kenneth G.: Religion in the Republic of Mexico. London: World Dominion Pr., 1935.
- Baker, Paul E.: Negro-White Adjustment. Associated Press, New York, 1934.
- Baker, Ray Stannard: Following the Color Line: An Account of Negro Citizenship in the American Democracy. New York: Doubleday, 1908.
- Balk, Theodore: Race, Mythe et Vérité. Paris, 1985.
- Balk, Thédore: Races, Mythe et Vérité. Préface du Professeur M. Prenant. Collection: Problèmes. Librairie E.S.I., 1935.
- Ballin, Marian R. and Farnsworth, Paul R.: A Graphic Rating Method for Determining the Scale Values of Statements in Measuring Social Attitudes. Journal of Social Psychology, 13:323-327, 1941.

Balogh, A. von: Der internazionale Schutz der Minderheiten. Munich, 1928.

- Barnes, I.: The Inheritance of Pigmentation in the Skin of the American Negro. Hum. Biol., I, 321-328, 1929.
- Barton, Rebecca C.: Witnesses for Freedom. Harper & Brothers, New York, 1948.
- Bartsch, Robert: Die Rechtsstellung der Frau als Gattin und Mutter. Geschichtliche Entwicklung ihrer persönlichen Stellung im Privatrecht bis in das achtzehnte Jahrhundert. Leipzig, Veit, 1903.
- Barzum, J.: Race: A Study in Modern Superstition. Harcourt, Brace, New York, 1937.
- Bates, M. Searle: Religious Liberty, An Inquiry. International Missionary Council, New York, 1946.
- Bauer, Arthur: Les Classes sociales: analyses de la vie sociale. Paris, 1902.
- Bayton, J. A. and Byoune, E. F.: Racio-National Stereotypes Held by Begries. Journ. Negro Educ., XVI, 49-56, 1947.

- Bayton, James A.: The Racial Stereotypes of Negro College Students. Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology, 36:97-102, 1941.
- Beard, A. E. S.: Our Foreign-Born Citizens. T. Y. Crowell Co., New York, 1939 (rev. ed.)
- Benedict, R.: Race, Science and Politics. Viking Press, New York, 1945 (rev. ed.)
- Benedict, Ruth: Race and Cultural Relations. National Education Association, Washington, D. C., 1942.
- Bensen: Die Proletarier. 1847.
- Beracha, Sammy: Le mythe du racisme. Bibliothèque des Sciences politiques et sociales, 1945.
- Bergamin, José: Detrás de la Gruz. Mexico, Lucero, Editorial Seneca, 1941.
- Berkson, Isaac: Theories of Americanization. Teachers College Publications, Columbia University, New York, 1920.
- Bernard, L. L.: Introduction to Sociology: A Naturalistic Account of Man's Adjustment to His World, 1942.
- Bernard, William: Naturalization in Its Social Setting. Yale University, Ph.D. thesis, New Haven, 1934.
- Bernstein, S.: Die Judenpolitik der Rumänischen Regierung. Kopenhagener Bureau der Aionistischen Organization, 1918.
- Berry, B.: The Concept of Race in Sociology Textbooks. Soc. Forces, XVIII, 411-417, 1940.
- Berry, B.: The Mestizos of South Carolina. Amer. J. Soc., LI, 34-41, 1945.
- Bettelheim, B.: The Dynamism of Anti-Semitism in Gentile and Jew. Jour. Ab. Soc. Psy., XXXII, 153-168, 1947.
- Bevan, E.: Brothers all: the war and the race question. 1914.
- Billings, Elizabeth L.: The Influence of a Social-Studies Experiment on Student Attitudes. School and Society, 56:557-560, 1942.
- Blackman, G.: Equal opportunity, 1902.
- Blake, R. and Dennis, W.: The Development of Stereotypes Held by the Negro. Journ. Ab. & Soc. Psy., XXXVIII, 525-531, 1943.
- Bloom, L.: Concerning Ethnic Research. Amer. Soc., XIII, 171-182, 1948. Discussions by C. S. Johnson, I. De A. Reid, E. T. Thompson, R. M. Williams J., and A. W. Lind.
- Boas, F.: Race, Language and Culture. Macmillan, New York, 1940.
- Boas, Franz: The Mind of Primitive Man. New York, 1911.
- Boas, Franz: The Mind of Primitive Man. New York, 1927 (chaps. VI-VII).
- Boas, Franz: Anthropology and Modern Life. New York, 1932 (new edition).
- Boas, Franz: Race and Democratic Society. J. J. Augustin, New York, 1945.
- Boas, Franz: The Half-Blood Indian. Popular Science Monthly, 14:761-770, 1894.
- Boegner, Marc: L'évangile et le racisme. Conférence radiodiffusée du Carême 1939 prononcée le 16 mars. Editions "Je sers", 1939.
- Bogardus, E. S.: From Immigration to Exclusion. Sociology and Social Research, 24:272-278, Jan.-Feb. 1940.
- Bogardus, E. S.: Immigration and Race Attitudes. D. C. Heath Co., Boston, 1928.
- Bogardus, Emory S.: Measuring Social Distance. Journal of Applied Sociology, 9:299-308, 1925.
- Bogardus, Emory S.: Race Friendliness and Social Distance. Journal of Applied Sociology, 11:272-287, 1927.
- Bogardus, Emory S.: Sex Differences in Racial Attitudes. Sociology and Social Research, 12:279-285, 1928.

- Bogardus, Emory S.: A Social Distance Scale. Sociology and Social Research. 17:265-271, 1933.
- Bolton, E. B.: Effect of Knowledge upon Attitude Toward the Negro. Journal of Social Psychology, 6:68-90, 1935.
- Bolton, E. B.: Measuring Specific Attitudes toward the Social Rights of the Negro. Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology, 31:384-397, 1937.
- Bonger, William A.: Race and Crime. Columbia University Press, New York, 1943.
- Bossard, James H. S.: The Sociology of Child Development. Harper and Bros., New York, 1948.
- Bouglé, C.: Essais sur le régime des castes. Paris, 1927 (2nd ed.)
- Bouglé, C.: Castes et Races. Grande Revue, 1 avril 1901.
- Bouglé, C.: De la sociologie à l'action sociale. Pacifisme. Féminisme. Coopération (Tradition française et Société des Nations. La coopération intellectuelle internationale. Le problème moral et la Démocratie. La vie morale et l'idéal national. Féminisme et sociologie. Producteurs et coopérateurs.) Alcan, 1931.
- Bouglé, C.: Essais sur le régime des castes. Bibliothèque de Philosophie contemporaine. Alcan, 1935.
- Bouglé, M. C.: Note sur le droit et la caste en Inde. L'année Sociologique, vol. 10. Paris: F. Alcan, 1907.
- Bouglé, M. C.: Remarques sur le régime des castes. L'année Sociologique (vol. iv). Paris: Félix Alcan, 1901.
- Bowers, Raymond V.: Discussion: An Analysis of the Problem of Validity. American Sociological Review, 1:69-74, 1936.
- Boynton, Paul L. and Mayo, George D.: A Comparison of White and Negro High School Students. Journal of Negro Education, 11:487-494, 1942.
- Brameld, Theodore and Fish, Eleanor: School Administration and Inter-Cultural Relations. The Annals, 244:26-33, 1946.
- Brameld, Theodore: Minority Problems in the Public Schools. Harper and Bros., New York, 1946.
- Bristol, L. M.: Social Adaptation. Cambridge, Mass., 1915.
- Brookes, E. H.: Race Relations Survey, 1946-1947. South African Institute of Race Relations, P. O. Box 97, Johannesburg, S. A.
- Brooks, Lee M.: Racial Distance as Affected by Education. Sociology and Social Research, 21:128-133, 1936.
- Brophy, Ira N.: The Luxury of Anti-Negro Prejudice. Public Opinion Quarterly, 9:456-466, 1945-46.
- Brown, Francis and Roucek, Joseph S.: One America. The History, Contributions and Present Problems of our Racial and National Minorities. Prentice Hall, Inc., New York, 1946 (rev. ed. of Our Racial and National Minorities, 1937)
- Brown, John W.: World Migration and Labour. Amsterdam: The International Federation of Trade Unions, 1926.
- Brown, Lawrence G.: Immigration. Macmillan, New York, 1936.
- Brown, William A. (and others): Religions of Democracy. Devin-Adair Co.. New York, 1940.
- Brown, W. O.: Rationalization of Race Prejudice. International Journal of Ethnics, 43:294-306, 1933.
- Bruns, C. G.: Grundlagen und Entwicklung des internationalen Minderheitenrechts. Berlin, 1929.

- Brunschwig, Henri.: La lutte pour l'émanicipation des Juifs en Prusse. Thèse Lettres, Paris, 1946.
- Bryce, James: The Relations of the Advanced and the Backward Races of Man. kind. Oxford, 1902.
- Bryce, Rt. Hon. Vis. James: Race Sentiment as a Factor in History. University of London Press, London, 1915.
- Bryson, Lyman; Finkelstein, Louis and MacIver, Robert M. (eds.): Approaches to National Unity. Fifth Symposium of the Conference on Science, Philosophy and Religion. Harper and Bros., New York, 1945.
- Buch, Willi: 50 Jahre antisemitische Bewegung. Beitracge zu ihrer Geschichte. Deutscher Voldsverlag. Muenchen, 1937.
- Buck, Pearl S.: "Breaking the Barriers of Race Prejudice". Journal of Negro Education, 11:444-453, 1942.
- Bunche, Ralph Johnson: A World View of Race. The Associates in Negro Folk Education, Washington, D. C., 1936.
- Bunge, Carlos Octavio: Nuestra América, Buenos Aires.
- Burgess, Ernest W. (ed.): Personality and the Social Group. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, 1929.
- Burke, Constance: The Roots of American Culture. Harcourt, Brace and Co. New York, 1942.
- Burma, J. H.: The Measurement of Negro Passing. Amer. J. Soc., LII, 18-22, 1946.

С

- Cabot, J. M.: The Racial Conflict in Transylvania. Boston, 1926.
- Campbell, Don W. and Stover, G. F.: Teaching International-Mindedness in the Social Studies. Journal of Educational Sociology, 7:244-248, 1933.
- Cantril, H. and Allport, G. W.: The Psychology of Radio. Harper and Bros., New York, 1935.
- Cantril, Hadley: Gauging Public Opinion. Princetown University Press, Princeton, 1944.
- Carlson, H. B.: Attitudes of Undergraduate Students. Journal of Social Psychology, 5:202-212, 1934.
- Caso, Alfonso: Los Problemas sociales del indígena americano. 1944.
- **Castelar**, Emilio. Discursos académicos y Discursos políticos.
- Castle, W. E.: Biological and Social Consequences of Race-Crossings. American Journal of Physical Anthropology, 9:145-156, 1926.
- Castro, Alfonso: El Problema Judio. Editorial Actualidad. Mexico, 1939.
- Catterall, Helen T.: Judicial Cases Concerning American Slavery and the Negro. Washington: Carnegie Institution of Washington, 1926-1937.
- Cayton, H.: The Psychological Approach to Race Relations. Reed Coll. Bull. XXV, 1, 5-27, 1946.
- Chase, Stuart: What the New Census Means. Public Affairs Pamphlet No. 56, Public Affairs Committee, New York City.
- Chase, Stuart: The Proper Study of Mankind. Harper and Bros., New York, 1948.
- Chase, Wilton P.: Attitudes of North Carolina College Students (Women) Toward the Negro. Journal of Social Psychology, 12:367-378, 1940.
- Chen, William K. C.: The Influence of Oral Propaganda Material Upon Students' Attitudes. Archives of Psychology, No. 150, 1933.
- Chen, William K. C.: Retention of the Effect of Oral Propaganda. Journal of Social Psychology, 7:479-483, 1936.

- Cherrington, Ben M. and Miller, L. W.: Changes in Attitude as the Result of a Lecture and of Reading Similar Materials. Journal of Social Psychology, 4:479-484, 1938.
- Chicago Commission on Race Relations: The Negro in Chicago. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, 1922.
- Child, Irwin L. and Doob, Leonard W.: Factors Determining National Stereotypes. Journal of Social Psychology, 17:208-219, 1948.
- Child, Irwin L.: Italian or American? The Second Generation in Conflict. Yale University Press, New Haven, 1943.
- Chollet, C.: Problèmes de races et de couleurs. Le conflit; la reconciliation, Paris, 1929.
- Claessens, August: Race Prejudice. Rand School Press, New York, 1943.
- Clark, F. E.: Our Dearest Antipathies. Atlantic Monthly, February 1921.
- Clafk, Kenneth B.: Group Violence. Journal of Social Psychology, 19:819-337, 1944.
- Clark, Kenneth B. and Clark, Mamie K.: The Development of Consciousness of Self and the Emergence of Racial Identification in Pre-School Children. Journal of Social Psychology, 10:591-599, 1939.
- Gark, Kenneth B. and Clark, Mamie K.: Segregation as a Factor in the Racial Identification of Negro Pre-School Children. Journal of Experimental Education, 8:161-163, 1939.
- Clark, Kenneth B. and Clark, Mamie K.: Skin Golor as a Factor in Racial Identification of Negro Pre-School Children. Journal of Social Psychology, 11:159-169, 1940.
- Clark, T. C. and Perlman, P. B.: Prejudice and Property: An Historic Brief Against Racial Covenants. Public Affairs Press, Washington, D. C.
- Clark, William Francis: The Folly of Bigotry, An Analysis of Intolerance. Non-Sectarian League for Americanism, Chicago, 1940.
- Claudian, Alexandru: Antisemitismul si Cuzele lui Sociale. A Sociological Treatise. The Social Democratic Party, Bucharest, 1945.
- Clinchy, Everett R.: All in the Name of God. New York, 1934.
- Clinchy, Everett R.: The Effort of Organized Religion. The Annals, 244:128-136, 1946.
- Closson, E. E.: A Study of the Factor of Information in Race Prejudice. Unpublished M.A. thesis, State University of Iowa, 1930.
- Cobb, W. M.: The Physical Constitution of the American Negro. Jour. Negro Educ., 111, 340-388, 1934.
- Cobb, W. M.: Physical Anthropology of the American Negro. Amer. Jour. Phy. Anthrop., XXIX, 113-223, 1942.
- Cohen, Felix S.: Immigrant Farmers and Their Children. League for Industrial Democracy, New York, 1940.
- Cohen, Felix S.: Immigration and National Welfare. League for Industrial Democracy, New York, 1940.
- Cohen, G. H.: Who is Legally a Negro. Intramural Law Rev. N. Y. Univ., III, 2, 91-106, 1948.
- Colajanni, N.: Latins et Anglo-Saxons. Races supérieures et races inférieures. Paris: F. Alcan, 1905.
- Cole, N. E.: The Personal Attitudes of High School Pupils in Colorado Toward Alien Nations and Peoples. Unpublished M.A. thesis, Colorado State College, 1932.
- Collier, J.: The Indians of the Americas. Mentor Books, New York, 1947.

- Collins, George L.: How Race Prejudice is Overcome. The World Tomorrow, 9:410-412, 1928.
- Comas, Juan: La Discriminación Racial en América. América Indígena. México, volumen V, No. 1, 1945.
- Commins, Dorothy B.: Lullabies of Many Lands. Harper and Bros., New York, 1941.
- Committee for Racial Cooperation, Benjamin Franklin High School: Building Concepts of Racial Democracy and Appendix in Americans All, Studies in Inter-cultural Education. National Education Association, Washington, D. C., 1942.
- Cook, L. A.: An Experimental Sociographic Study of a Stratified Tenth Grade Class. American Sociological Review, 10:250-261, 1945.
- Cooley, Charles H.: Social Organization. New York, 1909.
- Cornejo, Mariano: La solidaridad en el Perú, 1909.
- Corsi, Edward: In the Shadow of Liberty (a description of the attitudes and experiences of the immigrants). Macmillan, New York, 1985.
- Cotton, Walter Aidan: The Race Problem in South Africa. Student Christian Movement, London, 1926.
- Coudenhove-Kalergi, H.: Das Wesen der Antisemitismus, Vienna, 1929.
- Cox, Oliver C.: Caste, Class and Race. Doubleday, New York, 1948.
- Cox, Oliver C.: Race and Caste-A Distinction. American Journal of Sociology, 50: p. 368, 1945.
- Craven, Avery: The Background of the Civil Rights Struggle in the South. Phylon, Atlanta University, 4th quarter, 1948.
- Criswell, Joan H.: A Sociometric Study of Race Cleavage in the Classroom. Archives of Psychology, No. 235, 1939.
- Criswell, Joan H.: Social Structure Revealed in a Sociometric Re-rest. Sociometry, 2:69-75, 1939.
- Cunha, Euclides Da: Los sertones, 1938.

D

- Dahlberg, G.: Race, Reason and Rubbish: a Primer of Race Biology. Columbia Univ. Press, New York, 1942.
- Darmesteter, James: Race and Tradition in his Selected Essays. London, 1895.
- Davidson, H. A.: The Anatomy of Prejudice. Common Ground, 1 (2) : 5-12, 1941.
- Davie, Maurice R.: The Evolution of War (see pp. 234-236). New Haven, 1929.
- Davie, Maurice R.: World Immigration. Macmillan, New York, 1936.
- Davis, A.: The Distribution of Blood Groups and the Concept of Race. In Political Arithmetic (ed. Lancelot Hogben), Macmillan, New York, 1938.
- Davis, A.: Racial Status and Personality Development. Sci. Mon. LXII, 354-362, 1946.
- Davis, A.; Gardner, B. B. and Gardner, Mary: Deep South. A Social-Anthropological study of Caste and Class. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, 1941.
- Davis, Harry E.: A History of Freemasonry Among Negroes in America. Northern Jurisdiction, U.S.A., United Supreme Council, 1946.
- De Castro, Raimundo. Identidad Médico Legal de las Razas en Cuba. Revista de Medicina y Cirigía de La Habana. Noviembre de 1985.
- Delevsky, J.: Antagonismes sociaux et antagonismes prolétariens. Paris: Giard, 1924.

- Dellenbaugh, F. S.: The North-Americans of yesterday. A comparative study of North American life, customs, and products on the theory of the ethnic unity of the race. New York: G. P. Putnam, 1901.
- Demaison, André: Le sens du conflit. Flammarion, E., 1942.
- Deniker, J.: Les races et les peuples de la Terre. Paris: Reinwald, 1900.
- Detweiler, F. G.: The Rise of Modern Race Antagonisms. Amer. J. Soc. XXXVII, 788-747, 1982.
- Devedji, A.: L'echange obligatoire des minorités grècques et turques en vertu de la convention de Lausanne du 30 janvier 1929. Paris, 1929.
- Dewey, John: Racial Prejudice and Friction. Chinese Social and Political Science Review, 6:1-17, 1922.
- Die Gefaehrdung des Christentums durch Rassenwahn und Judenverfolgung. Symposium. Vita Nova Verlag. Luzern, 1985.
- Diggins, E.: A Statistical Study of National Prejudices. Unpublished M.A. thesis, Columbia University, New York, 1927 (summarized in G. Murphy and T. M. Newcomb: Experimental Social Psychology, pp. 635-638). Harper and Bros., New York, 1931.
- Dingwall, E. J.: Racial Pride and Prejudice. Watts, London, 1946.
- Directory of Agencies in Race Relations: Julius Rosenwald Fund. Chicago, 1945.
- Dobzhansky, T.: On Species and Races of Living and Fossil Man. Amer. Journ. Phy. Anthrop., N.S., 11, 251-265, 1944.
- Dodd, Stuart C.: A Social Distance Test in the Near East. American Journal of Sociology, 41:194-204, 1985.
- Dollard, J.: Caste and Class in a Southern Town. Yale Univ. Press, New Haven, 1987.
- Dollard, J. et al.: Frustration and Aggression. Yale Univ. Press, New Haven, 1939.
- Dollard, John: Criteria for the Life History. Yale University Press, New Haven, 1935.
- Dollard, John: Hostility and Fear in Social Life. Social Forces, 17:15-26, 1938.
- Doob, Leonard W. and Sears, Robert R.: Factors Determining Substitute Behavior and the Overt Expression of Aggression. Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology, 34:293-313, 1939.
- Dover, C.: Half-Caste. Secker and Warburg, London, 1937.
- Dover, C.: Know This of Race. Secker and Warburg, London, 1989.
- Dover, C.: Hell in the Sunshine. Secker and Warburg, London, 1943.
- Doyle, B.: The Etiquette of Race Relations in the South. Univ. of Chicago Press, 1937.
- Drachsler, Julius: Democracy and Assimilation. New York, 1920.
- Drake, St. Clair and Clayton, H.: Black Metropolis, Harcourt, Brace, New York, 1945.
- Droba, D. D.: Education and Negro Attitudes. Sociology and Social Research, 17:137-141, 1932.
- DuBois, Rachel Davis: Build Together Americans, Adventures in Intercultural Education. Hinds, Hayden and Ekdredge, New York, 1945.
- DuBois, W. E. B.: Black Folk: Then and Now. Holt, New York, 1989.
- DuBois, W. E. B.: Prospect of a World Without Race Conflict. Amer. J. Soc. XLIX, 450-456, 1944.
- DuBois, W. E. B.: The World and Africa. Viking Press, New York, 1947.
- DuBois, W. E. B. (Ed.): An Appeal to the World. National Assoc. for the Advancement of Colored People, New York, 1947.

Duffus, Robert L.: Where do we get our Prejudices. Harpers, 505-508, 1926.

Duncan, G. H.: Immigration and Assimilation. D. C. Heath and Co., Boston, 1988.

Dunham, B.: Man Against Myth. Little, Brown, Boston, 1947.

- Dunn, L. C. and Dobzhansky, T.: Heredity, Race and Society. Penguin Books, New York, 1946.
- Duprat, Guillaume, Léonce: Les classes sociales. Bucarest: Editura Institutul Social Român, 1928.
- Durelli, Augusto: El nacionalismo frente al Cristianismo. Editorial Losada, Buenos Aires, 1940.
- Dushaw, Rev. Amos I.: Anti-Semitism-The Voice of Folly and Fanaticism. Copyright, 1943.

E

- Eaton, Allen H.: Immigrant Gifts to American Life. Russell Sage Foundation, New York, 1932.
- Ebenstein, William: Man and the State. Rinehart, New York, 1947.
- Eckard, E. W.: How Many Negroes "Pass"? Amer. J. Soc., LII, 498-500, 1947.
- Educational Policies Commission: Learning the Ways of Democracy-A Case Book in Civic Education. National Education Association, Washington, D. C., 1940.
- Eichrodt, Walther D.: Antisemitismus in Alter und Neuer Zeit. Kirchliche Zeitfragen, Heft No. 3. Herausgegeben vom Schweizerischen evanglischkirchlichen Verein Zwingli Verlag. Zuerich, 1937.
- Eisenstein, Ira: The Ethnics of Tolerance. Applied to Religious Groups in America. New York: King's Crown Press, 1941.
- Elbogen, Ismar: Geschichte der Juden in Deutschland. Berlin: E. Lichtenstein, Berlin, 1935.
- Elliott, Frank R.: "Eye vs. Ear in Moulding Opinion". Public Opinion Quarterly, 1:83-87, 1936.
- Ellwood, Charles A.: "Intolerance." Publications of the American Sociological Society, 1925.
- Entralgo Vallina, Elías: El fenómeno social latino-americano. 1933.
- Erler, G. H. J.: Das Recht der nationalen Minderheiten. Deutschtum und Auland, No. 37-39, Muenster, 1931.
- Esquivel Obregón, Toribio: Apuntes para la Historia del Derecho en México, 1937-1943.
- Ewing, T. N.: A Study of Certain Factors Involved in Changes of Opinion. Journal of Social Psychology, 16:63-68, 1942.

F

- Fairchild, H. P.: The Melting-Pot Mistake. New York, 1926.
- Fairchild, Henry Pratt: Race and Nationality as Factors in American Life. Donald Press, New York, 1947.
- Fairchild, Henry Pratt: Immigration. Macmillan, New York, 1925.
- Fairchild, Henry Pratt: Immigrant Backgrounds. John Wiley and Sons, New York, 1927.
- Faris, Ellsworth: Racial Attitudes and Sentiments. Southwestern Political and Social Science Quarterly, 9:479-490, 1929.
- Faris, Ellsworth: The Natural History of Race Prejudice. Ebony and Topaz, edited by Charles S. Johnson. New York: Opportunity, 1927.

- Faussecave, M.: La Femme dans la société cap uniste, son rôle, son exploitation, ses droits. Bureau d'éditions, de diffusion et de publicité.
- Feldman, Herman: Racial Factors in American Industry, New York, 1981.
- Fenichel, O.: Psychoanalysis of Anti-Semitism. American Imago, 1940.
- Ferguson, L. W.: A Study of the Likert Technique of Attitude Scale Construction. Journal of Social Psychology, 18:51-57, 1941.
- Ferguson, L. W.: The Requirements of an Adequate Attitude Scale. Psychological Bulletin, 36:665-673.
- Ferré, Louise-Marie: Les classes sociales dans la France contemporaine. Thèse Lettres, Paris, 1985.
- Ferriani, Lino: Delinquenza precoce e senile. 1 vol. Comc: Omarine, 1901.
- Fineberg, Solomon A.: Overcoming Anti-Semitism. Harper and Bros., New York, 1943.
- Finot, Jean: Les préjugés des races, 2nd ed. Alcan, Paris, 1905.
- Finot, Juan: El prejuicio de las razas.
- Firmin: De l'Egalité des Races Humaines. 1885.
- Fischer, Eugen: Die Rehobother Bastards und das Bastardierungsproblem beim Menschen. Jena, 1913.
- Fisher, C.: The Eurasian Question in Indonesia. Int. Affairs, XXIII, 4, 1947.
- Fleming, Daniel J.: Attitudes Toward Other Faiths. New York: Association Press, 1928.
- Fleming, R. M.: Physical Heredity in Human Hybrids. Ann. Eug. IX, 55-81, 1939.
- Fontaine, W. T.: "Social Determination" in the Writings of Negro Scholars. With comments by E. F. Frazier and E. B. Reuter. Amer. J. Soc., XLIX, 302-315, 1944.
- Ford, Robert N.: Scaling Experience by a Multiple-Response Technique. A Study of White-Negro Contacts. American Sociological Review, 6:9-23, 1941.
- Frankenstein, Ernst: Justice for My People. Dial Press, New York, 1944.
- Franklin, J. H.: From Slavery to Freedom. Knopf, New York, 1948.
- Frazier, E. F.: Negro Harlem, An Ecological Study. Amer. J. Soc., XLIII, 72-88, 1937.
- Frazier, E. F.: The Negro Family in the United States. Univ. of Chicago Press, 1989.
- Frazier, E. F.: Sociological Theory and Race Relations. Amer. Soc. Rev., xii, 265-271, 1947.
- Frazier, E. F.: The Negro in America. Macmillan, New York (in press).
- Frazier, E. Franklin: What's the Evidence? Human Nature and the Nature of Race Contacts. Nation, 7 August 1943.
- Frazier, E. Franklin: The Pathology of Race Prejudice. Forum, 77:856-862, 1927.
- Freire, Gilberto: Casa grande e senzada.
- Freire, Gilberto: Sobrados e Mucambos.
- Freud, Anna: The Ego and the Mechanisms of Defense. London: The Hogarth Press, 1937.
- Freud, Sigmund: Civilization and its Discontents. London: The Hogarth Press, 1950.
- Freud, Sigmund: Group Psychology and the Analysis of the Ego. London: International Psychoanalytical Press, 1922.
- Freud, S.: Ichanalyse und Massenpsychologie.
- Freud, S.: Moses and Monotheism. Knopf, New York, 1939.

- Freud, Sigmund: Das Unbehagen in der Kultur. Vienna, 1930. Tr. by Joan Riviere as "Civilization and its Discontents", London, 1930.
- Freyre, G.: The Masters and the Slaves. Knopi, New York, 1947.
- Fucrstenau, Hermann: Das Grundrecht der Religionsfreiheit, nach seiner geschictlichen Entwichelung und heutigen Geltung im Deutschland. Leipzig: Duncker & Humblot, 1891.

G

- Gamic, Manuel: Hacia un México Nuevo. Problemas sociales. 1985.
- García Calderón, Francisco: Les conditions sociologiques de l'Amérique Latine. 1908.
- Gargas, S.: Die Minderheit: eine soziologische Studium, Haag, 1927.
- Garrison, K. C. and Burch, J. S.: A Study of Racial Attitudes of College Students, Journal of Social Psychology, 4:230-235, 1933.
- Garth, T. R.: Race Psychology. McGraw Hill, New York, 1931.
- Ghurye, G. S.: Caste and Race in India. Kegan Paul, London, 1982.
- Giddings, F. H.: Studies in the Theory of Human Society. New York, 1922.
- Gist, Nocl P.: Racial Attitudes in the Press. Sociology and Social Research, 17:25-36, 1932.
- Click, C. E.: Collective Behaviour in Race Relations. Amer. Soc. Rev., XIII, 419-437, 1948.
- Glickberg, Charles I.: Intercultural Education-Utopia or Reality? Common Ground, 6:61-68, 1946.
- Gliksmann, G.: L'Aspect Economique de la Question Juive en Pologne, Paris: Rieder, 1929.
- Goldberg, M. M.: A Qualification of the Marginal Man Theory. Amer. Soc. Rev., VI, 52-58, 1941.
- Goldenweiser, A.: Anthropology, 1937.
- Goldstein, Julius: Rasse und Politik. Leipsic, 1925 (4th ed.).
- Goldstein, Naomi Driedman: The Roots of Prejudice Against the Negro in the United States. Boston University Press, Boston, Mass., 1948.
- González Prada y Ulloa, Manuel: Bajo el oprobio. Paris, 1933.
- González Prada y Ulloa, Manuel: Páginas libres. Paris, 1894, 2nd edit. Madrid, 1915.
- Gordis, Robert: The Jew Faces a New World. New York: Behrman's Jewish Book House, 1941.
- Goshal, K.: People in Colonies. Sheridan House, New York, 1948.
- Gottschalk, Louis, Klukholn, Clyde and Angeli, Robert: The Use of Personal Documents in History, Anthropology, and Sociology. Social Science Research Council Bulletin 53, New York, 1945.
- Graeber, Isaque and Britt, Steuart H. (Eds.): Jews in a Gentile World. Macmillan, New York, 1942.
- Graetz, H.: Volkstuemliche Geschichte der Juden. Leipzig, Verlag v. Oskar, Leiner, 1888.
- Green, A. W.: A Re-examination of the Marginal Man Concept. Soc. Forces, XXVI, 167-171, 1947.
- Green, George H.: Have Children a National Bias? Discovery, 13: 44-46, 1932.
- Greene, E. B.: Religion and the State. New York University Press, New York, 1942.

- Gregory, John W.: "Inter-Racial Problems and White Colonization in the Tropics," Report of the British Association for the Advancement of Science, Toronto, 1924.
- Grice, H. H. and Remmers, H. H.: A Scale for Measuring Attitudes Toward Ruces and Nationalities. Purdue University Foundation, Lafayette, 1984.
- Grinberg, Suzanne: Historique du mouvement suffragiste depuis 1848. Goulet, 1926.
- Groot, J. J. M. De. Sectarianism and Religious Persecution in China. Amsterdam: Transactions of the Royal Academy of Sciences, 1903-1904. 2 vols.
- Grosser, G. H. and Korchin, S. J.: Some Theoretical Aspects of Group Prejudice and Conflict. Mimeographed paper, Harvard University Seminar on Group Prejudice and Conflict, Fall term, 1944-45.
- Guevara, Francisco Maldonado de: El primer contacto de blancos y gentes de color en America. Valladolid: Universidad de Valledolid, Publicaciones de la Sección de Estudios Americanistas. 1924.
- Guilford, J. P.: Racial Preferences of a Thousand American University Students. Journal of Social Psychology, 2:179-204, 1931.

Gumplowicz, Ludwig: Der Rassenkampf, Innsbruck, 1909 (2nd ed.).

- Gurewitsch, B.: Die Entwicklung der menschlichen Bedürfnisse und die sociale Gliederung der Gesellschaft. Staats-u. socialwissenschaftliche Forschungen, hgg. v. G. Schmoller. Leipzig: Duncker et Humblot, 1901.
- Gutbraut, Clement: Antisemitisme et Xénophobie en Belgique. Les Cahiers du C.A.J. (Conseil d'Associations Juives) No. 1. Bruxelles, 1940.
- Guttman, Louis: A Basis for Scaling Qualitative Data. American Sociological Review, 9:139-150, 1944.

H

- Haag, H. L.: Study of Racial Attitudes of High School and University Students. Unpublished M.A. thesis, University of Michigan, 1930. Cited in Murphy, Murphy and Newcomb: Experimental Social Psychology. Harper and Bros., New York, 1931 (see pp. 982-983).
- Haas, T. H.: The American Indian in Recent Perspective. Race Relations, V, 51-59, 1948. Reprinted by U.S. Govt. Printing Office: 1948-0-780-468.
- Halbwachs, Maurice: Les classes sociales. Les Cours de Sorbonne. Certificats d'études supérieures de sociologie et de morale et sociologie. Tournier et Constans, 1942.
- Hankins, Frank H.: La race dans la civilisation. Critique de la doctrine nordique. Bibliothèque scientifique. Paris, 1935.
- Hankins, F. H.: The Racial Basis of Civilization. Alfred A. Knopf, New York, 1931.
- Hankins, Frank H.: Social Discrimination. Encyclopaedia of the Social Sciences. The Macmillan Company, New York, 1948.
- Hansen, M. L.: The Immigrant in American History. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, Mass., 1940.
- Harand, Irene: Die Wahrheit ueber den Antisemitismus. 3 Flugschrift der "Oesterreichische Volkspartei". 1933.
- Harkness, G. E.: The Church and the Immigrant. Doubleday, Doran and Co. Garden City, New York, 1921.
- Harlan, Howard H.: "Some Factors Affecting Attitudes toward Jews". American Sociological Review, 7:816-827, 1924.



- Harris, A. J., Remmers, H. M. and Ellison, C. E.: The Relation between Liberal and Conservative Attitudes in College Students, and Other Factors. Journal of Social Psychology, 8:820-335, 1932.
- Hartley, E. L.: Problems in Prejudice. Kings Crown Press, 1946.
- Hayakawa, S. L.: Race and Words. Common Sense, XII, 231-235, 1943.
- Hayes, C. J.: Essays on Nationalism. New York, 1926.
- Haynes, G. E.: Public Approbation as a Means of Changing Inter-racial Attitudes and Customs. Social Forces, 24:105-110, 1945.
- Heiden, Konrad: Der Führer. Gollancz, 1945.
- Heinrich, J. C.: The Psychology of a Suppressed People. George Allen and Unwin, London, 1937.
- Hérisson, Charles: Le problème des races en Afrique du Sud. Société d'études et d'informations économiques, Mémoires et documents, 1939.
- Herskovits, Melville J.: Acculturation. New York: J. J. Augustin, 1938.
- Herskovits, Melville J.: Race Relations. American Journal of Sociology, May 1929.
- Herskovits, Melville J.: Race Relations. American Journal of Sociology, May 1933.
- Herskovits, M. J.: Man and His Works. Knopf, New York, 1948.
- Herskovits, M. J.: The Myth of the Negro Past. Harper, New York, 1941.
- Hibben, John Grier: A Defense of Prejudice, and Other Essays. Scribner, New York, 1913.
- Hill, M. C.: Basic Racial Attitudes Towards Whites in the Oklahoma All-Negro Community. Amer. J. Soc., XLIX, 519-523, 1944.
- Hirschfeld, Magnus: Racism. London, 1938.
- Hobson, John A.: Towards Social Equality. L. T. Hobhouse Memorial Trust Lectures No. 1, London, 1931.
- Hogben, Lancelot: Dangerous Thoughts. New York, 1940. (chap. 3, pp. 44-58, "Race and Prejudice.")
- Hogben, Lancelot: Preface on Prejudice. In Cedric Dover: Half Caste. Martin Secker and Warburg, Ltd., London, 1937.
- Hollander, Arie Nicolaas Jan den: De Landelijke Arme Blanken in het Zuiden der Vereenigde Staten. Groningen: J. B. Wolters', 1933.
- Holmes, S. J.: Changing Effects of Race Competition. Science, 19 February 1932.
- Holmes, S. J.: The Effect of Migration on the Natural Increase of the Negro, in a Decade of Progress in Eugenics. Baltimore: The Williams and Wilkins Co., 1934.
- Holmes, S. J.: The Increasing Growth-Rate of the Negro Population. American Journal of Sociology, September 1936.
- Holmes, S. J.: The Negro's Struggle for Survival. Berkeley: The University of California Press, 1937.
- Holmes, S. J.: The Principal Causes of Death Among Negroes: A General Comparative Statement. The Journal of Negro Education, July 1937.
- Holmes, S. J. and Parker, S. L.: The Stabilized Natural Increase of the Negro. Journal of the American Statistical Association, June 1931.
- Holmes, S. J.: Will the Negro Survive in the North? Scientific Monthly, December 1928.
- Hooton, Earnest A.: El Mito de la Raza a la Luz de la Antropologia. La Nueva Democracia, New York, 1936.
- Horowitz, E. L. and Horowitz, E. E.: Development of Social Attitudes in Children. Sociometry, 1:301-338, 1938.

- Horowitz, Eugene L.: Race Attitudes, In Otto Klineberg, Characteristics of the American Negro. Harper and Bros., New York, 1944.
- House, F. N.: Viewpoints and Methods in the Study of Race Relations. American Journal of Sociology. January 1935.
- Houzé, E.: L'Aryen et l'Anthroposocioligie. Etude critique. Bruxelles; Misch et Thron, 1906.
- Howard, George P.: Religious Liberty in Latin America? Philadelphia, Westminster Pr., 1944.
- Hundley, D. R.: Social Relations in our Southern States. New York: H. B. Price, 1860.

Huntington, Ellsworth: The Character of Races. New York, 1924.

- Hu Shi et al.: Studies in Political Science and Sociology (contains also papers on minorities). University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, 1941.
- Huxley, J. S. and Haddon, A. C.: We Europeans, Harper, New York, 1936.

Huxley, Julian: Man Stands Alone. 1941.

Huxley, Julian: Le problème "racial" en Europe. Etudies internationales. Collection Oxford. Oxford University Press, 1944.

I

Ichheiser, Gustav: The Jews and Anti-Semitism. Sociometry, 9:92-108, 1946.

J

- J.-J. v. de. D. (Autour d'un sophisme). Le mensonge des races. Bruxelles, 1945.
- J'accuse!-a collection of articles about Nazi anti-Semitism. World Alliance for Combatting Antisemitism. London, 1933.
- Jéhouda, Josué: Le problème juif. Journal de Genève, janvier 1945.
- Jellinek, G.: Das Recht der Minoritaeten. Vienna, 1898.
- Jenks, A. E.: Intermarriage with Negroes. A Survey of State Statutes. Yale Law Journal, vol. 36, 1926-27.
- Jenks, A. E.: The Legal Status of Negro-White Amalgamation in the United States. American Journal of Sociology, vol. 21, 1915-16.
- Johnson, A.: Race in the World to Come. Yale Rev., XXXIII, 1930200, 1943.

Johnson, C. S.: Patterns of Negro Segregation. Harper, New York, 1943.

- Johnson, C. S.: The Next Decade in Race Relations. Journ. Negro Educ. XIII, 441-446, 1944.
- Johnson, C. S. (ed.): Race Relations in Human Relations. Soc. Science Inst., Fisk University, Nashville, 1947.
- Johnson, Charles S.: A Preface to Racial Understanding. Friendship Press, New York, 1936.
- Johnson, C. S.: The Conflict of Caste and Class in an American Industry. American Journal of Sociology, July 1936.
- Johnson, Charles S.: Measurement of Social Attitudes. American Sociological Society Publications, 25 (2):150-153, 1931.
- Johnson, Charles S.: National Organizations in the Field of Race Relations. The Annals, 244:117-127, 1946.
- Johnson, Charles S.: The Negro in American Civilization, New York, 1930.
- Johnson, Charles S.: Racial Attitudes of College Students. American Sociological Society Publications, 28:24-51, 1934.

- Jones, J. M.: Americans All-Immigrants All. U.S. Office of Education, Washington, D. C., 1939.
- Jones, Vernon: Attitudes of College Students toward War, Race, and Religion, and the Changes in Such Attitudes During Four Years in College (abstract), Psychological Bulletin, 33:731-732, 1936.

Jordan, Emil: Americans. W. W. Norton and Co., New York, 1989.

Juaristi, V.: Las razas malditas en el país vasco, 1921.

- Jungmann, Otto: The Origin and Solution of the Problem of National Minorities. Vienna, 1929.
- Jungniann, Otto: Die nationale Minderheit Weltpolitische Buecherei, No. 22, Berlin, 1931.
- Just, E. E.: The Biology of the Cell Surface. P. Blakiston, Philadelphia, 1989.

K

- Kaiser, Ernest: Racial Dialectics: The Aptheker-Myrdal School Controversy. Phylon, Atlanta University, 4th quarter 1948.
- Kansas, Sidney: U.S. Immigration, Exclusion, Deportation and Citizenship. Matthew Bender and Co., New York, 1940.
- Kastein, Joseph: Eine Geschichte der Juden. Berlin: Rowohlt, 1933.
- Katz, Daniel and Allport, F. H.: Students' Attitudes. Craftsman Press, Syracuse, 1981.
- Katz, Daniel and Braly, K.: Racial Stereotypes of One Hundred College Students. Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology, 28:280-290, 1933.
- Katz, Daniel and Braly, Kenneth W.: Racial Prejudices and Racial Stereotypes. Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology, 30:175-193, 1930.
- Katz, M. R.: A Hypothesis of Anti-Negro Prejudice. Amer. J. Soc., LIII, 100-104, 1947.
- Keith, Sir Arthur: Ethnos, or the Problem of Race Considered from the New Point of View. K. Paul, Trencher, Trubner & Co., London, 1931.
- Keith, Sir Arthur: The Place of Prejudice in Modern Civilization. Williams and Norgate, Ltd., London, 1931.
- Keith, Sir Arthur: Man, A History of the Human Body.
- Kephart, Wm. M.: The Passing Question. Phylon, Atlanta University, 4th quarter 1948.
- Kessing, F. M.: Modern Samoa. Allen and Unwin, London, 1934.
- Kessing, F. M.: Native Peoples of the Pacific World. Macmillan, New York, 1945.
- Kilpatrick, William and Van Til, William: Intercultural Attitudes in the Making. Harper and Bros., New York, 1947.
- King, Mary Jackson: Vine of Glory. The Bobbs-Merrill Company, Indianapolis, 1948.
- Klineberg, O.: Race Differences. Harper, New York, 1935.
- Klineberg, O. (ed.): Characteristics of the American Negro. Harper, New York, 1944.
- Klineberg, O.: Social Psychology. Holt, New York, 1940.
- Klineberg, Otto: Race Differences. New York, 1984.
- Kluckholn, Clyde: Group Tensions. Analysis of a Case History. See In Bryson Finkelstein and MacIver: Approaches to National Unity. Harper and Bros., New York, 1945.
- Kluckhohn, Florence: The Participant-Observer Technique in Small Communities. American Journal of Sociology, 46:331-343, 1940.

- Knower, Franklin H.: Experimental Studies of Changes in Attitude: I. A Study of the Effect of Oral Argument on Changes of Attitude. Journal of Social Psychology, 6:815-345, 1985. II. A Study of the Effec' of Printed Argument on Changes in Attitude. Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology. 30:522-532, 1986. III. Some Incidence of Attitude Changes. Journal of Applied Psychology, 20:114-127, 1986.
- Kohn, Hans: The Jew Enters Western Culture. Menorah Journal, April 1930.
- Kohn, Hans: Der Nationalismus in der Sowjetunion, Frankfort, 1982 (tr. by E. W. Dickens, London, 1933.)

Kohn, Hans: Orient and Occident. New York, 1934.

- Konvitz, M. R.: The Alien and the Asiatic in American Law. Cornell Univ. Press, Ithaca, 1946.
- Krogman, W. M.: Physical Anthropology and Race Relations. Sci. Mon., 66, 317-321, 1948.
- Kuczynski, R.: Population Movements. Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1936.
- Kulp, Daniel H.: The Form of Statements in Attitude Tests. Sociology and Social Research, 18:18-25, 1933.

L

- Ladas, S. P.: The Exchange of Minorities Bulgaria, Greece, and Turkey. Inew York, 1932.
- LaFarge, John: The Race Question of the Negro. Longmans, Green and Co., New York, 1945.
- Lahovary, Jcan: La Question Israelite en Roumanie. Bucharest, 1902.
- Lakhovsky, Coorges: La civilisation et la folie raciste. New York, 1941.
- Lamparter, Edward. Evangelische Kirche und Judentum. Ein Beitrag zu christichem Verstaendniss von Judentum und Antisemitismus. Druckerei Dr. Broenner. Nowawes, Stutgart, 1928.
- Landis, Benson Y.: Religion and the Good Society. National Conference of Christians and Jews, New York, 1943.
- Landis, Paul H.: Population Problems (contains several sections on the Immigrant problems.) American Book Company, New York, 1943.
- LaPierre, Richard T.: Collective Behavior. New York: McGraw-Hill Book Company, Inc., 1938.
- LaPierre, R. T.: Race Prejudice France and England. Social Forces, 7:102-111, 1928.
- LaPierre, R. T.: Attitudes vs. Actions. Social Forces, 18:280-237, 1934.
- Lasker, Bruno: Race Attitudes in Children. Henry Holt and Co., New York, 1929.
- Lasker, G. W.: Migration and Physical Differentiation: A Comparison of Immigrant with American-Born Chinese. Amer. J. Phy. Anthrop., IV, 273-297, 1946.
- Lazaron, M. S.: Common Ground. (A study of the problem of racial and religious tolerance.) Liveright, New York, 1938.
- Lazerefeld, P. F.: The Controversy over Detailed Interviews. An Offer for Negotiation. Public Opinion Quarterly, 8:38-60, 1944.
- Lea, Henry Charles: A History of the Inquisition of Spain. New York, Macmillan, 1906-1907.
- LeBon, Gustave: Psychologie des foules. Bibliothèque de Philosophie contemporaine. Alcan, 1937.
- Lee, F. H.: Folk Tales of All Nations. Coward-McCann, New York, 1930.

- Leiper, Henry Smith: Blind Spots. Experts in Self-Cure of Race Prejudice. Friendship House, New York, 1929.
- Lenin, V. I.: Ueber die Judenfrage. Verlagegenossenschaft Auslendischer Arbeiter in der USSR. Moskau, 1952.
- Leon, Nicolas: Las Castas de México Colonial o Nueva Espana. Mexico, 1924. Lester, P. et Millot, J.: Les races humaines. Collection Armand Colin, 1986.
- Lett, H. A.: Techniques for Achieving Internacial Cooperation. Proceedings of
- the Institute on Race Relations and Community Organization. University of Chicago and American Council on Race Relations, June 1945.
- Levasseur, E.: Histoire des classes ouvrières en France de 1789 à 1870. Deuxième édition, Paris: Rousseau, 1903.
- Levine, P.: On Human Anti-Rh Sera and Their Importance in Racial Studies. Studies, 96, 452-458, 1942.
- Levinson, D. J. and Sanford, R. N.: A Scale for the Measurement of Anti-Semitism. Journal of Psychology, 17:339-370, 1944.
- Lévy-Falco, P.: L'Evolution de la capacité juridique de la femme dans la France contemporaine. (Discours prononcé à l'ouverture de la Conférence du stage des avocats au Conseil d'Etat et à la Cour de cassation le 17 décembre 1925.) Maréchal, 1926.
- Lewin, K.: Resolving Social Conflicts. Harper, New York, 1948.
- Lewin, Kurt: Psycho-Sociological Problems of a Minority Group. Character and Personality, 3:175-187, 1935.
- Lewin, Kurt: Research on Minority Problems. Technology Review, 48:163-164, and 182-190, 1946.
- Lewin, Kurt, Lippitt, Ronald and White, Ralph K.: Patterns of Aggressive Behavior in Experimentally Created 'Social Climates'. Journal of Social Psychology, 10:271-299, 1989.
- Lewin, Kurt and Grabbe, Paul: Gonduct, Knowledge, and Acceptance of New Values. Journal of Social Issues, I (3):53-64, 1945.
- Lewinson, P.: A Guide to Documents in the National Archives for Negro Studies. Committee on Negro Studies, Amer. Council Learned Studies, Washington, March 1947.
- Lewinson, Paul: Race, Glass and Party, London, 1982.
- Lewis, J. H.: The Biology of the Negro. Univ. Chicago Press, 1942.
- Likert, Rensis: A Technique for the Measurement of Attitudes. Archives of Psychology, No. 140, 1982.
- Likert, Rensis, Roslow, Sydney and Murphy, Gardner: A Simple and Reliable Method of Scoring the Thurstone Attitude Scales. Journal of Social Psychology, 5:228-238, 1934.
- Link, H. C.: An Experiment in Depth Interviewing on the Issue of Internationalism vs. Isolationism. Public Opinion Quarterly, 7:267-279, 1948.
- Linton, R. (ed.): The Science of Man in the World Crisis. Columbia Univ. Press, New York, 1945.
- Linton, Ralph: The Study of Man. Appleton-Century, New York, 1936. (chaps. XVII, XIX, and XX).
- Lippitt, Ronald and Radke, Marian: New Trends in the Investigation of Prejudice. The Annals, 244:167-176, 1946.
- Lippmann, Walter: Public Opinion. Harcourt, Brace and Co., New York, 1922.
- Lipschütz, Alejandro: El Indoamericanismo y el Problema Racial en las Américas. Chile, 1944.
- Little, K.: Negroes in Britain. Kegan Paul, London, 1948.

- Liveright, A. A.: The Community and Race Relations. The Annals, 244:106-116, 1946.
- Locke, A.: The Negro in the Three Americas. Journ. Negro Educ., 7-18, Winter, 1944.
- Locke, Alain Le Roy: When Peoples Meet. Ninds, Hayden and Edredge, New York, 1946.
- Locke, Alain and Stern, B. J.: When Peoples Meet (a Study in Race and Culture Contacts) Progressive Education Association, New York, 1942.
- Lockwood, G. Paul: A White Veteran Reflects on Race Relations. Phylon, Atlanta University, 4th quarter 1948.
- Locblowitz-Lennard, Henry and Riessman, Frank Jr.: A Preliminary Report on a Social Perception Test. A New Approach to Attitude Research. Social Forces, 24:423-427, 1946.
- Lukács, Georg: Geschichte und Klassenbewusstsein. Berlin, 1923.

M

- Macartney, C. A.: Nationalism. London, 1939.
- MacCrone, I. D.: Group Conflicts and Race Prejudice. S. Afr. Inst. Race Relations, Johannesburg, 1947.
- MacCrone, I. D.: Race Attitudes in South Africa. Oxford Univ. Press, London, 1987.
- MacIver, R. M.: Group Relations and Group Antagonisms. Harper, New York, 1944.
- MacIver, R. M.: The Modern State. Oxford, 1926.
- MacIver, Robert M.: The More Perfect Union. A Program for the Control of Inter-Group Discrimination in the United States. Macmillan, New York, 1948.
- Maclver, R. M.: Discrimination and National Welfare. Harper and Brothers, New York and London, 1949.
- MacIver, Robert M.: Towards an Abiding Peace. New York: Macmillan, 1943.
- MacLeod, William C.: The American Indian Frontier. New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 1928.
- Madariaga, Salvador de: Ingleses, Franceses y Espanoles, Madrid, 1928. (Englishmen, Frenchmen, Spaniards. Oxford University Press, London, 1928.)
- Mair, L. P.: The Protection of Minorities, the Working and Scope of the Minorities Treaties under the League of Nations. London, 1928.
- Malherbe, E. G.: Race Attitudes and Education. S. Afr. Inst. Race Relations, Johannesburg, 1946.
- Malinowski, Bronislaw: Gulture. The Encyclopedia of the Social Sciences. Vol. II, p. 621 s. Macmillan, New York, 1937.
- Mannheim, Karl: Ideology and Utopia, an Introduction to the sociology of knowledge. London: K. Paul, Trench, Trubner and Company, Ltd. 1936.
- Manske, A. J.: The Reflection of Teachers' Attitude in the Attitudes of Their Pupils. Unpublished Ph.D. thesis, Teachers College, Columbia University, New York, 1935. (Reported in Murphy, Murphy and Newcomb: Experimental Social Psychology. Harper and Bros., New York, 1937 edition, pp. 950-951.)

Marais, J. S.: The Cape Coloured People, 1652-1937. Longmans, London, 1939. Marcson, Eli S.: The Control of Ethnic Conflict. Social Forces, 24:161-165, 1945. Marett, J. R. de la H.: Race, Sex and Environment. Hutchinson, London, 1936.



- Maritain, Jacques: A travers le désastre. Maison Française, Nueva York, 1941. Maritain, I.: Les droits de l'homme et la Loi Naturelle, Nueva York, 1942.
- Maritain, Jacques: Le crépuscule de la civilisation. Montréal, 1941.
- Maritain, 1.: Principes d'une Politique Humaniste, Nucva York, 1944.
- Marks, Eli S.: Standardization of a Race Attitude Test for Negro Youth. Journal of Social Psychology, 18:245-278, 1943.
- Marple, Clare H.: The Comparative Susceptibility of Three Age Levels to the Suggestion of Group versus Expert Opinion. Journal of Social Psychology, 4:176-184, 1988.
- Marti, Paul: Religion, Rasse und Volkstum. Series: Religioese Gegenwartsfragen Heft No. 13. Verlag Paul Haupt. Bern, 1946.
- Martial, René: Race, hérédité, folie. Paris, 1938.
- Martial, René: Les métis. Bibliothèque de philosophie scientifique. Flammarion, 1942.
- Marylski, Anton Von: Geschichte der Judenfrage in Polen. Berlin, 1918.
- Masuoka, J.: Race and Culture Contacts in the Emporium. Amer. J. Soc., L. 199-204, 1944.
- Matagrin, Amédée: Histoire de la tolérance religieuse: évolution d'un principe social. Paris: Fischbacher, 1905.
- Maxwell, Stewart S.: The Negro in America. Copyright, 1944, by the Public Affairs Committee, Inc., Pamphlet No. 95, New York. (A summary of An American Dilemma. A Study of the Negro Problem and Modern Democracy, by Gunnar Myrdal.)
- McKenzie, R. D.: Cultural and Racial Differences as Basis of Human Symbiosis. See in Social Attitudes, ed. by K. Young, New York, 1981, pp. 186-165 (on segregation).
- McLean, H. V.: Psychodynamic Factors in Racial Relations. Ann. Amer. Acad., March 1946.
- McLean, H. V.: Group Tension, Jour. Amer. Med. Assoc., 11, 479-484, 1947.
- McNemar, Quinn: Opinion-Attitude Methodology. Psychological Bulletin, 43: 289-374, 1946.
- McWilliams, C.: A Mask for Privilege: Anti-Semitism in America. Little, Brown, Boston, 1948.
- McWilliams, Carey: Prejudice: Japanese-Americans. Symbol of Racial Intolerance. Little, Brown and Co., Boston, 1944.
- McWilliams, Carcy: Brothers Under the Skin. Little, Brown and Co., Boston, 1944.
- McWilliams, Carey: Race Discrimination and the Law. Science and Society, 9:1-22, 1945.
- Mead, Margaret: And Keep Your Powder Dry. An Anthropologist Looks at America. William Morrow and Co., New York, 1942.
- Mecklin, John Moffatt: Democracy and Race Friction. Macmillan, New York, 1914.
- Mekhel, S., McLean, H. V. and Lewin, K.: Concerning Race Prejudice. Amer. J. Orthopsychiatry, XIV, 699-705, 1944.
- Meltzer, H.: Hostility and Tolerance in Children's Nationality and Race Attitudes. American Journal of Orthopsychiatry, 11:662-675, 1941.
- Meltzer, H.: The Development of Children's Nationality Preferences, Concepts, and Attitudes. Journal of Psychology, 11:343-358, 1941.
- Meltzer, H.: Group Differences in Nationality and Race Preferences of Children. Sociometry, 2:86-105, 1989.

- Mendizabal, Alfredo: Una concepción hemofilica del Derecho. Cruz y Raya, Madrid, 1934.
- Mendizabal Villalba, Alfredo: The Martyrdom of Spain. London, Bles, 1938.
- Mendonca, Renato De: El Brasil en la América Latina. 1944.
- Merker, Paul: Hitlers Antisemitismus und Wir. Sonderdruck der Zeitschrift "Freies Deutschland". Sobre tiro de la Revista "Alemania Libre". Mexico, D. F., October 1942.
- Merton, R. K.: Intermarriage and The Social Structure: Fact, and Theory. Psychiatry, IV, 361-374, 1941.
- Merton, Robert K.: Fact and Factitiousness in Ethnic Opinionnaires. American Sociological Review, 5:13-28, 1940.
- Merton, Robert and Patricia L. Kendall: The Focussed Interview. American Journal of Sociology, 51:541-557, 1946.
- Michel: Histoire des races maudites de la France et de l'Espagne, 1897.
- Michels, Roberto: Zur Soziologie des Parteiwesens (2nd ed. Leipsic 1925), tr. by Eden and Cedar Paul as Political Parties. New York, 1915.
- Mickiem, Nathaniel: National Socialism and the Roman Catholic Church. London, 1939.
- Mill, J. S.: The subjection of women; ed. by S. Coit, 1909.
- Miller, H. A.: Races, Nations and Classes. Lippincott, Philadelphia, 1924.
- Miller, H. A.: The Beginnings of Tomorrow. New York, 1933.
- Miller, Kelly: Is Prejudice Innate or Acquired? Journal of Applied Sociology, 9:516-524, 1926.
- Miller, Kelly: Race Adjustment, New York, 1908.

Reissan

- Millin, Sarah Gertrude: The South Africans. New York: Boni and Liveright, 1927.
- Minard, Ralph D.: Race Attitudes in Iowa Children. University of Iowa Studies in Character. Vol. 4, No. 2, 1931.
- Mitchel, Lucy S. and others: The People of the U.S.A. Their Place in the School Curriculum. Progressive Education Association, New York, 1942.
- Monjar, Elsie: Racial Distance Reactions. Sociology and Social Research, 21:559-564, 1937.
- Montagu, M. F. Ashley: Origins of the American Negro. Psychiatry, VII, 2, 162-174, 1944.
- Montagu, M. F. Ashley: The Physical Characters of African and Other Non-American Negroids. Psychiatry, VIII, 3, 279-285, 1945.
- Montagu, M. F. Ashley: Man's Most Dangerous Myth: The Fallacy of Race. Columbia Univ. Press, New York, 1945. (rev. ed.).
- Montandon: L'état actuel de l'ethnologie racial. "Scientia", 1989.
- Montoro, Octavio: Constitución, Herencia y Razas. Habana, 1936.
- Morant, G. M.: Racial Theories and International Relations. Journ. Roy. Anthrop. Ins., LXIX, Pt. II, 151-162, 1939.
- Morgan, John J. B.: Attitude of Students Toward the Japanese. Journal of Social Psychology, 21:219-227, 1945.
- Motzkin, L.: La Campagne Antisemite en Pologne. Cahiers du Comité des Délégations Juives, Paris, 1932.
- Muller, H. J.: On the Variability of Mixed Races. Amer. Nat., LXX, 409-442, 1936.
- Mumford, Lewis: The Culture of Cities. Harcourt, Brace and Co., New York, 1938.

- Muntz, Earl E.: Race Contact. New York, 1927.
- Murphy, G.: Personality. Harper, New York, 1948.
- Murphy, John C.: An Analysis of the Attitudes of American Catholics toward the Immigrant and the Negro, 1825-1925. Catholic University of America Press, Washington, D. C., 1940.
- Murray, Henry A.: Explorations in Personality. Oxford University Press, 1938.
- Myers, Gustavus: History of Bigotry in the United States. Random House, New York, 1943.
- Myrdal, Alva: Nation and Family. London: Kegan Paul, Trench. Trubner & Co., Ltd., 1945. Reprinted 1947.
- Myrdal, Alva and Gunnar: Kontakt Med Amerika. Stockholm: Albert Bonnier, 1941.
- Myrdal, Alva and Others: Women in the Community. Oxford University Pres, 1939.
- Myrdal, Gunnar: Population, A Problem for Democracy. The Godkin Lecture, 1938. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, Mass., 1940.
- Myrdal, Gunnar: Social Trends in America and Strategic Approaches to the Negro Problem. Phylon, The Atlanta University, 3rd quarter 1948, vol. IX, No. 3.
- Myrdal, Gunnar: An American Dilemma. A Study of the Negro Problem and Modern Democracy (two volumes). Harper and Bros., New York, 1944.

N

- Neuler, Gwynne: The Relationship Between Attitude and Information Concening the Japanese in America. American Sociological Review, 11:177-191, 1946.
- Neuler, Gwynne and Golding, Elizabeth H.: The Measurement of Attitudes Toward the Japanese in America. American Journal of Sociology, 52:31-39, 1946.
- North, C. C.: Social Differentiation. Chapel Hill, North Carolina, 1926. (see pp. 227-252).
- Núnez, Lucio Mendieta: Las clases sociales. Mexico, 1944.
- Núnez, Lucio, Mendieta: Las problaciones indígenas de América ante el Derecho actual. 2nd ed. Mexico, 1935.

0

- Oakesmith, John: Race and Nationality. An Inquiry into the Origin and Growth of Patriotism. 1919.
- Ccampo, Melchor: Reflexiones sobre la Tolérancia.
- Ocsterreicher, John: Racisme, antisémitisme, antichristianisme. Documents et critique. New York, 1943.
- Oldham, J. H.: Christianity and the Race Problem. New York, 1924.
- Oliveira Vianna, Francisco José: Evolución del pueblo brasileno. 1923.
- Oliveira Vianna, Francisco José: Raza y asimilación. 1923.
- Olivier, Sidney: White Capital and Coloured Labour. London, 1929 (new ed).
- Olivier, Sir Sydney: Colour Prejudice. Contemporary Review, October, 1923.
- Oppenheimer, Franz: System der Soziologie. Icna: Fischer, 1923.
- Ornstein, Hans: Der Antisemitismus. Verlag der Juedischen Buch-Gemeinde. Zuerich, 1946.

Ortiz, Fernando: Contrapunteo Cubano del Tobaco y el Azúcar (Advertencia de sus contrastes agrarios, ecónomicos, históricos y sociales, su etnografia y su transculturación). Havana, 1940.

Ortiz, Fernando: El Engaño de las Razas. Havana, 1946.

- Urtiz, Fernando: "Raza" voz de mala cuna y de mala vida. Cuadernos Americanos, Mexico, 1945.
- Ots Capdequi, José Maria: Estudios de Historia del Derecho Espanol en las Indias, Bogotá, 1940.
- O Zydach i Antisemityzmie: Symposium. Publ. by "Mysl Socjalistyczna". Warsaw, 1936.

P

- Pace, C. Robert: A Situation Test to Measure Social-Political-Economic Attitudes. Journal of Social Psychology, 10:331-344, 1939.
- Padeiford, Norman J.: International Guarantees of Religious Liberty. New York: International Missionary Council, 1942.
- Padmore, G. (ed.): History of the Pan-African Congress. Pan-Africa Service, Manchester, 1947.
- Park, R. E.: Experience and Race Relations, Journal of Applied Sociology (Sept-Oct. 1924).
- Park, Robert E.: Social Planning and Human Nature. Publication of the American Sociological Society, vol. 29, no. 3; August 1935.
- Park, R. E.: The Bases of Race Prejudice. Annals of the American Academy, November 1928.
- Park, R. E.: The Concept of Social Distance. Journal of Applied Sociology, July-Aug. 1924.
- Park, R. E. and Burgess, E. W.: Introduction to the Science of Sociology. Chicago, 1924. (2nd ed.: see pp. 228-253, 252-257, and 525-550 on segregation).
- Park, R. E. and Miller, H. A.: Old World Traits Transplanted. New York, 1921.
- Park, Robert Ezra: Methods of Race Survey. Journal of Applied Sociology, 10:410-415, 1926.
- Park, R. E.: Racial Assimilation in Secondary Groups with Particular Reference to the Negro. American Journal of Sociology, 19:606-623, 1913.
- Park, R. E. and others: The City. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, 1925.
- Park, Robert Ezra: Assimilation. The Encyclopedia of the Social Sciences. Vol. I, pp. 281 s.
- Parkes, James: The Emergence of the Jewish Problem, 1878-1939. Issued under the anspices of the Royal Institute of International Affairs. Oxford University Press, 1946.
- Parsons, Talcott: Racial and Religious Differences as Factors in Group Tensions. See in Bryson, Finkelstein, and MacIver: Approaches to National Unity. Harper and Bros., New York, 1945.
- Pearl, R.: On Biological Principles Affecting Populations: Human and Other. Amer. Nat., LXXI, 50-68, 1937.
- Peterson, Ruth C. and Thurston, L. L.: Motion Pictures and the Social Attitudes of Children. Macmillan, New York, 1935.
- Picon Salas, Mariano: De la Conquista a la Independencia. 1944.
- Pierson, Donald: Negroes in Brazil. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, 1942.
- Pillsbury, W.: Selection an Unnoticed Function of Education. Scientific Monthly, vol. X11, 1921.
- Pinto, En R.: Estudos Afro-Brasileiros, vol. I.

- Piti, B. (Ed.): B'Lgarskata Obschtchestvenost' za Rasizma i Anti-semitisma. Sofia, 1987.
- Pittard, E.: Les races et l'histoire. Paris, La Renaissance du Livre.
- Pittman, R. H.: Building an Internacial Church. Sociology and Social Research, 29:297-303, 1945.
- Pitt-Rivers, G. M.: The Clash of Culture and the Contact of Races. London, 1927.
- Ploss, H.: Das Weib in der Natur und Voelkerkunde. Leipzig, 1897.
- Plotke, Julius: Die Rumänischen Juden unter dem Fürsten und König Karl, Frankfurt, 1901.
- Porteus, Clark: South Wind Blows. A. A. Wyn, New York, 1948.
- Porterfield, Austin L.: Education and Race Attitudes. Sociology and Social Research, 21:538-543, 1937.
- Powdermaker, Hortense: After Freedom. The Viking Press, New York, 1939.
- Powdermaker, Hortense: The Ghanneling of Negro Aggression by the Cultural Process. American Journal of Sociology, 48:750-758, 1943.
- Powdermaker, Hortense and Storen, Helen: Probing Our Prejudices. Harper and Bros., New York, 1944.
- Prenant, Marcel: Race et racisme. Paris, 1938.
- Price, A. Grenfell: White Settlers in the Tropics. New York: American Geographical Society, 1939.
- Progressive Education Association: Scales of Belief. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, 1939.
- Proshansky, H. M.: A Projective Method for the Study of Attitudes. Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology, 38:393-395, 1943.

R

- Race Discrimination and the Law. Nat. Fed. for Constitutional Liberty, 1945. Radin, Paul: The Racial Myth. McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York, 1984.
- Ramos, Arthur: The Negro in Brazil. The Associated Publishers, Washington, D. C., 1939.
- Ramos, Samuel: El perfil del hombre y la cultura en Mexico. Mexico, D. F., 1938.
- Raper, Arthur F.: The Tragedy of Lynching. University of North Carolina Press, Chapel Hill, 1933.
- Ratzel, Friedrich: Nationalitaeten und Rassen. Muenchen, 1906.
- Rau, Enrique: El racismo national socialista y el Christianismo. Gladium, Buenos Aires, 1939.
- Rauws, Johannes, and Others: The Netherlands Indies. London: World Dominion Pr., 1935.
- Recasens-Siches, Luis: Lecciones de Sociologia. Editorial Porrua, México, 1948.
- Recasens-Siches, Luis: Vida Humana, Sociedad Y Derecho: Fundamentos de la Filosofía del Derecho. 2nd ed., Fondo de Cultural Económica, México, 1945.
- Recasens-Siches, Luis: Human Life, Society and Law: Fundamentals of the Philosophy of the Law (Included in the volume "Latin American Legal Philosophy"). Harvard University Press, Cambridge, Mass., 1948.
- Reckless, Walter C. and Bringen, Harold L.: Racial Attitudes and Information about the Negro. Journal of Negro Education, 2:128-138, 1933.

- Recueil de matériaux sur la situation économique des Israélites de Russie, d'après l'enquête de la Jewish Colonization Association. Paris, F. Alcan, 1906.
- Reddick, Lawrence D.: Racial Attitudes in American History Textbooks. Journal of Negro History, 19:225-265, 1984.
- Redfield, R.: Race and Class in Yucatan. Cooperation in Research, No. 501, 511-552, 1988.
- Redfield, R.: What We Do Know About Race. Sci. Mon., LVII, 193-201, 1943.
- Reid, Ira De A., Valien, Preston, and Johnson, Charles S.: The Urban Negro Worker in the United States, 1925-1936. Washington: Government Printing Office, 1988.
- Reinach, Salomón: L'Origine des Aryens. 1892.
- Remmers, H. H.: Propaganda in the Schools Do the Effects Last? Public Opinion Quarterly, 2:197-210, 1988.
- Reuter, E. B.: Racial Theory. Amer. J. Soc., L, 452-461, 1945.
- Reuter, E. B.: Race and Culture Contacts. McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York, 1934.
- Reuter, E. B.: The American Race Problem. A Study of the Negro. New York, 1927.
- Reuter, E. B.: Race Mixture. Studies in Intermarriage and Miscegenation. New York, 1931 (esp. pp. 73-103).
- Reuter, E. B. and Hart, C. W.: Introduction to Sociology. New York, 1933 (see pp. 225-227 on segregation).
- Reves, Alfonso: Tentativas y Orientaciones. Mexico, 1944.
- Reynolds, C. N.: Competition and Conflict Between Races of Differing Cultural Standards. Publications of the American Sociological Society, May 1931.
- Rice, Stuart A.: A Source of Error in Judging Human Character. Journal of Personality Research, 5:267-276, 1926.
- Rich, Arthur: Das Judenproblem. Herausgegeben von der Religioes-sozialen Vereinigung der Schweiz. Zuerich.
- Ripley, Will. L.: The Races of Europe. A Sociological Study. London: Kegan Paul, 1900.
- Roback, Abraham Aaron: A Dictionary of the International Slurs. Cambridge, Mass., Sci-art publishers, 1944.
- Robinson, Duane and Rohde, Sylvia: A Public Opinion Study of Anti-Semitism in New York. American Sociological Review, 10: 511-515, 1945.
- Robinson, Duane and Rohde, Sylvia: Two Experiments with an Anti-Semitism Poll. Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology, 41:136-144, 1946.
- Robinson, Jacob: Das Minoritaeten problem und sein Literatur, Berlin and Leipzig, 1928.
- Rochat: Les Parias de France et de l'Espagne.
- Rojas, Ricardo: Eurindia: Ensayo de estática fundada en la experiencia histórica de las culturas americanas. 1924.
- Komero, Sylvio: El Brasil social, 1908.
- Rosander, A. C.: An Attitude Scale Based Upon Behavior Situations. Journal of Social Psychology, 8:3-15, 1937.
- Rose, A. and C.: America Divided Minority Group Relations in the United States. Knopf, New York, 1948.
- Rose, Arnold: The Negro in America. Harper and Brothers, New York, 1948.
- Rose, Arnold M.: Studies in Reduction of Prejudice (mimeographed). American Council on Race Relations, Chicago, 1947.



Ross, Malcolm: All Manner of Men. Reynal and Hitchcock, New York, 1948.

- Roth, Cecil: The Jewish Contribution to Civilization. Harper and Brothers, New York, 1940.
- Roucck, Joseph S. (ed.): Culture Conflicts and Education. Journal of Educational Sociology, 12:449-504, April 1989.
- Royce, Josiah: Race Questions, Provincialism, and Other American Problems. New York, 1908.
- Ruggiero, Guido de: Religious Freedom, Enc clopedia of the Social Sciences, XIII.

S

- Saadi, Mitchel and Farnsworth, Paul R.: The Degrees of Acceptance of Dogmatic Statements and Preferences for Their Supposed Makers. Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology, 29:143-150, 1934.
- Samelson, Babette: Does Education Diminish Prejudice? Journal of Social Issues, 1 (3):11-13, 1945.
- Samelson, Babette: Mrs. Jones' Ethnic Attitudes, A Ballot Analysis. Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology, 40:205-214, 1945.
- Sánchez, Luis Alberto: Cátolicos y Protestantes en América Latina. La Nueva Democracia. New York, 1943.
- Sappenfield, Bert R.: The Responses of Catholic, Protestant, and Jewish Students to the Menace Checklist. Journal of Social Psychology, 20:295-299, 1944.
- Scheler, Max.: Wesen und Formen der Sympathie. 1942.
- Schlauch, Margaret: La verité sur l'aryanisme. Traduit de l'anglais et annoté par Friedl, Berthold C. Missouri, 1945.
- Schlorff, P. W.: An Experiment in the Measurement and Modification of Racial Attitudes in School Children. Unpublished Ph.D. thesis, New York University, 1930. (Reported in F. Tredwell Smith: An Experiment in Modifying Attitudes toward the Negro. Teachers College, Columbia University, New York, 1943. pp. 15-16.)
- Schmoller, Gustav: Die soziale Frage: Klassenbildung, Arbeiterfrage und Klassenkampf. Munich, 1918. Grundiss der Sozialökonomik, vols. i-x, Tübingen 1914-1930, vol. ix, pt. i.
- Schoetensack, Otto: Die Bedeutung Australiens für die Heranbildung des Menschen aus einer niederen Form. Zeitschrift für Ethnologie., 1901.
- Schomberg, M.: Negro Types. Routledge, London, 1944.
- Schreider: Les Types Humains. Paris, 1928.
- Seashore, R. H. and Hevner, K. A.: A Time-Saving Device for the Construction of Attitude Scales. Journal of Social Psychology, 4:366-372, 1933.
- Secenson, Alfred L.: What is Prejudice? Journal of Educational Sociology, 16:344-348, 1943.
- Seipel, Ignaz: Nation und Staat. Vienna, 1916.
- Seligman, H. J.: Race Against Man. G. P. Putnam's Sons, New York, 1939.
- Sell, Manfred: Die Schwarze Völkerwanderung. Preussische Jahrbücher, May 1931.
- Sérébrennikov, T.: La femme en Union soviétique. Toulouse, 1945.
- Sergi, G.: The Mediterranean Race. A Study of the origin of European peoples. London: Walter Scott, 1901.
- Seton-Watson, R. W.: The Rise of Nationality in the Balkans. London, 1917.
- Shalloo, J. P. and Young, Donald: Minority Peoples in a Nation at War. The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science (2nd ed.) September 1942.

- Shaughnessy, Gerald: Has the Immigrant Kept Faith? Macmillan, New York, 1925.
- Sheehy, Maurice S. and National Attitudes Committee: National Attitudes in Children. Catholic Association for International Peace, Pamphlet No. 10. Washington, D. C., 1932.
- Sherif, Muzafer: The Psychology of Social Norms. Harper and Bros., New York, 1936.
- Sie, C. K.: L'esprit chinois en face du problème des races. China: Plon, 1989.
- Sierra, Justo.: Evolución política del pueblo mexicano, Mexico (repr.) 1940.
- Silberschein, Alfred: L'extermination des Juifs en Pologne. Comité pour l'assistance à la population juive frappée par la guerre. Genève, 1944-1945.
- Silcox, Claris E. and Fisher, Helen M.: Catholics, Jews and Protestants. Harper and Bros., New York, 1934.
- Simar, Théophile: Etude critique sur la Fondation de la Doctrine des Races. Brussels, 1922.
- Simmel, E.: Anti-Semitism A Social Disease. International University Press, New York, 1946.
- Simmel, Georg: Soziologie (3rd ed.). Muenich, 1923 (see pp. 101-185 and 250-256. Chapter III translated by A. W. Small as "Superiority and Subordination" in the American Journal of Sociology, vol. 11, 1896-7, p. 392 s).
- Simmel, Georg: The sociology of Conflict. The American Journal of Sociology, 1904.
- Simons, S. E.: Social Assimilation. American Journal of Sociology, vol. VI, 1900, pp. 790-822; vol. 111, 1901, pp. 53-79, 234-248, 386-404, and 539-556.
- Sims, V. M. and Patrick, J. R.: Attitude toward the Negro of Northern and Southern College Students. Journal of Social Psychology, 7:192-204, 1936.
- Sjaardema, H.: One View of the Position of the Eurasian in Indonesia. Far East. Quart., V, 172-175, 1946.
- Smith, F. Tredwell: An Experiment in Modifying Attitudes toward the Negro. Teachers College, Columbia University, New York, 1943.
- Smith, G. E. and others: Culture. The Diffusion Controversy. New York, 1927.
- Smith, Mapheus: A Study of Change of Attitudes toward the Negro. Journal of Education, 8:64-70, 1939.
- Smith, Mapheus: A Second Report on Changes in Attitudes toward the Negro. School and Society, 57:388-392, 1943.
- Smith, W. C.: Minority Groups in Hawaii. Ann. Amer. Acad., V. 223, 1942.
- Smith, William: Americans in the Making, The Natural History of the Assimilation of the Immigrant. D. Appleton-Century Co., New York, 1939.
- Snyder, L. L.: Race. Alliance Book Corporation, New York, 1939.
- Sorokin, Pitirim A.: Social Mobility. New York, 1927.
- Speer, Robert A.: Race and Race Relations. New York, 1924.
- Spiller, G. (ed.): Papers on Inter-Racial Problems. London, 1911.
- Spire, André: Les Juifs et la Guerre. Payot, 1917.
- Stapel, Wilhelm: Antisemitismus und Antigermanismus Ueber das seelische. Problem der symbiose des juedischen Volkes. Hamburg: Hanscatische Verlagsanstalt, 1928.
- Steiner, Jesse F.: The Japanese Invasion A Study in the Psychology of Inter-Racial Conflicts. Chicago, 1917.
- Stephenson, Gilbert T.: Race Distinction in American Law. New York: D. Appleton and Company, 1910.



- Stern, B. and Jacobs, M.: Outline of Anthropology. Barnes and Noble, New York, 1947.
- Stern, H.: Angriff und Abwehr. Ein Handbuch der Judenfrage. Philo-Verlag und Buchhandlung. Berlin, 1924.
- Sterner, R.: The Negro's Share. Harper, New York, 1948.
- Stone, Alfred H.: Studies in the American Race Problem. New York: Double. day, 1908.
- Stone, Julius: International Guarantees of Minority Rights. Procedure of the Council of the League of Nations in Theory and Practice. London, 1932.
- Stonequist, F. V.: The Marginal Man. Scribners, New York, 1987.
- Strong, A. C.: Three Hundred and Fifty White and Coloured Children, measured the Binet-Simon Scale of Intelligence: a comparative study. Ped. Sem. 20, 1913.
- Strong, Donald S.: Organized Anti-Semitism in the United States American Council on Public Affairs. Washington, D. C., 1941.
- Strong, S. M.: Negro-White Relations as Reflected in Social Types. Amer. J. Soc., LII, 23-30, 1946.
- Strong, Samual: Social Types in a Minority Group. American Journal of Sociology, 48:563-573, 1943.
- Strother, Charles R.: Methods of Modifying Behavior. Journal of Social Issues, I (3): 46-52, 1945.
- Sumner, William G.: Folkways. Ginn and Co., Boston, 1906 (chaps. I-II).
- Sumner, W. G. and Keller, A. G.: The Science of Society. (4 vols.) New Haven, 1927-28.
- Swinden, F. M.: The Negro in Ancient Greece. Amer. Anthrop. (n.s.), 50, 31-44, 1948.

T

- Taba, Hilda and Van Til, William: Democratic Human Relations. National Council for Social Studies, Yearbook, Washington, D. C., 1946.
- Tait, Joseph W.: Some Aspects of the Effect of the Dominant American Culture upon Children of Italian-Born Parents. Columbia University Press, New York, 1942.
- Tarde: La Réalité sociale. Revue philosophique, 1901.
- Taylor, I.: The Origin of the Aryans. 1890.
- Taylor, Paul S.: The Neighbor: The Natural History of Human Contacts. Houghton Mifflin and Co., 1904.
- The Institute of Social Research (publ.). Research Project on Anti-Semitism. Studies in Philosophy and Social Science, 1941.
- Thélin, Georges: La Liberté de conscience: étude de science et d'histoire du droit. Génève, Kundig, 1917.
- Thomas, Julius: War-Time Changes in the Occupational Status of Negro Workers. Occupations, 23:402-405, 1945.
- Thomas, W. I.: The Psychology of Race Prejudice. American Journal of Sociology, vol. 9, pp. 593-611.
- Thomas, W. I. and Znaniecki, Fl.: The Polish Peasant in Europe and America. (2 vols) New York, 1927 (2nd ed.).
- Thompson, C. H.: The Conclusions of Scientists Relative to Racial Differences. Journ. Negro Educ., 111, 494-512, 1984.
- Taompson, Edgar J.: Race Relations and the Race Problem. 1989.
- Thompson, L. and Joseph A.: White Pressures on Indian Personality and Culture. Amer. J. Soc., LIII, 17-22, 1947.

- Thurnwald, Richard: Black and White in East Africa. London: G. Routledge, 1935.
- Thurnwald, Richard: Partei und Klasse im Lebensprozees der Gesellschaft, Forschungen zur Völkerpsychologie und Soziologie, vol. ii, Leipsic, 1926.
- Thurston, L. L. and Chave, E. J.: The Measurement of Attitudes. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, 1929.
- Thurston, L. L.: Attitudes Can Be Measured. American Journal of Sociology, \$8:529-554, 1928.
- Thurstone, L. L.: An Experimental Study of Nationality Preferences. Journal of General Psychology, 1:405-425 (1928).
- Timasheff, Nicholas S.: Religion in Soviet Russia 1917-1942. New York: Sheed and Ward, 1942.
- Tindale, N. B.: Survey of the Half-Caste Problem in S. Australia. Proc. Roy. Geog. Soc. Austral., S. Austral. Br., XLII, 66-161, 1940-41.
- Toennies, F.: Ueber die Grundthatsachen des socialen Lebens. Berne, 1897.
- Tompson, Warren Simpson: Population Problems, third edition, McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York, 1942.
- Tonnies: Gemeinschaft und Gesellschaft. 1887.
- Topinard: De la Notion de race en anthropologie. Revue d'Anth, 1879.
- Trevor, J. C.: Some Anthropological Characteristics of Hybrid Populations. Eug. Rev., 80, No. 1, 1988.
- Trotter, William: Instincts of the Herd in Peace and War. London, 1911 (2nd ed.).
- Truesdell, Leon E.: Population Statistics, Populations and Migration. American Yearbook, Nelson and Sons, Nr. York, 1944.
- Truhart, Herbert von: Voelkerbu: 1, und Minderheiten Petitionen. Vienna, 1981.
- Turbeville, Gus and Hyde, Roy :: A Selected Sample of Attitudes of Louisiana State University Students tr ward the Negro. A Study of Public Opinion. Social Forces, 24:447-450, 194.

U

- Universal Races Congress. La république d. Haiti et les races africaines en géneral Port-au-Prince, 1911.
- Urquidi Morales, Arturo: La Comunidad Indígena, Mexico, 1940.
- U. S. Department of Justice: Prejudice and Property. Washington Public Affairs Press, 1948.
- U. S. Office of Education: National Unity Through Intercultural Education. U. S. Government Printing Office, Pamphlet No. 10, Washington, D. C. 1942.

V

Vaccaro, M.: La lotta per la esistenza e i suoi effetti per l'umanità. 1886.

Valder, Lucien: Le chrétien devant le racisme. Editions "Alsatia", 1939.

Valentin, Hugo M.: Anti-Semitism. New York: The Viking Press, 1936.

- Valentin, Hugo: Antisemitism, Historically and Critically Examined. New York, 1936.
- Valle Matheu, Jorge Del.: Sociología guatemalteca. 1989.
- Vanidoff, Maurice: L'Enseignement Primaire et l'Education Raciste en Allemagne. Etude Précédée d'une Lettre de S. Em. le Cardinal Verdier et d'une Allocution Radiodiffusee de M. Jean Giraudoux. Collection "Races et Racisme". Pris. 1945.



Vasconcelos, César.: Sociología Paraguaya.

Vaughan, James N.: On Modern Intolerance. Commonweal, 1941.

Veblen, Thornstein: The leisure class. New York, Macmillan, 1899.

Venable, V.: Human Nature, the Marxian View. Knopf, New York, 1945.

Verax, M. D. Rosetti: Le Roumanie et les Juifs. Bucarest: I. V. Socecu, 1903.

Vetter, G. B.: The Measurement of Social and Political Attitudes and the Related Personality Factory. Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology, 25:194-189, 1930.

Vickery, William E. and Cole, Stewart G.: Intercultural Education in American Education, Proposed Principles and Methods. Harper and Bros., New York, 1943.

Vierkandt, A.: Gesellschaftslehre. Hauptprobleme der philosophischen Soziologie. Stuttgart: Enke, 1923.

Vocgelin, Eric: The Growth of the Race Idea. The Review of Politics. Indiana, 1940, July.

Von Hilderbrand, Dictrich: Le mythe des races. Archives de Philosophie du Droit et de Sociologie juridique. Cahier double, 7^e année. Nos. 1-2, 1937.

Von Wiesse, L.: Allgemein Soziologie als Lehre von den Beziehungen und Beziehungsgebilden der Menschen. München-Leipzig: Duncker u. Humblot, 1924.

W

Wallace, H.: Racial Theories and the Genetic Basis for Democracy. Amer. Committee for Democracy and Intellectual Freedom, New York, 1989.

Wallis, W. D.: Moral and racial prejudice. 1914.

Wallis, W. D.: The Prejudices of Men. American Journal of Sociology, March 1929.

Wang, Charles K. A.: Suggested Criteria for Writing Attitude Statements. Journal of Social Psychology, 3:367-373, 1932.

Wanger, R.: High School Study of the Negro and His Problems. High School Teacher, 8:104-106, 1932.

Warner, L.: American Gaste and Class. American Journal of Sociology, vol. 42, 1936.

Warner, W. L. and Srole, L.: The Social Systems of American Ethnic Groups. Yale Univ. Press, New Haven, 1945.

Watson, G. B.: Action for Unity. Harper, New York, 1947.

Watson, Goodwin: Opinions on Race Relations. Associated Press, New York, 1929.

Waxman, J.: Race Relations: A Selected List of Readings on Racial and Cultural Minorities in the U.S. with Special Emphasis on Negroes. Julius Rosenwald Fund, Chicago, 1945.

Weatherford, W. D. and Johnson, Charles S.: Race Relations. D. C. Heath and Co., Boston, 1934.

Weaver, Robert C.: The Negro Ghetto. New York, Harcourt, Brace and Company, 1948.

Weaver, Robert C.: Housing in a Democracy. The Annals, 244:95-105, 1946 (on segregation).

Weber, Alfred: Kulturgeschichte als Kultursoziologie. Stockholm, 1937.

Weber, Max: Wirtschaft und Gesellschaft. 1922.

Weber, Max: Gesammelte Aufsätze zur Religionssoziologie. Tübingen, 1933.

Weill, Georges: Race et nation. Collection Descartes: Pour la vérité. Albin Michel, 1939.

Whisler, Laurence: Changes in Attitudes toward Social Issues Accompanying a One-Year Freshman Social Science Course. Journal of Psychology, 10:387-396, 1940.

- Wilke, Walter H.: An Experimental Comparison of the Speech, the Radio, and the Printed Page as Propaganda Devices. Archives of Psychology, No. 169, 1934.
- Williams, E.: Capitalism and Slavery. Univ. N. Car. Press, Chapel Hill, 1944.
- Williams, Robin M., Jr.: The Reduction of Intergroup Tensions. A Survey of Research on Problems of Ethnic, Racial, and Religious Group Relations. Social Science Research Council Bulletin, No. 57, New York, 1947.
- Wirth, Louis: The Ghetto. Chicago, 1928.
- Wirth, Louis and Goldhamer, Herbert: The Hybrid and Problems of Miscegenation. See part V in Otto Klineberg Characteristics of the American Negro, Harper and Bros., New York, 1944.
- Wittke, Carl: We Who Built America. Prentice-Hall, New York, 1939.
- Wolf, E. P., Loving, A. D. and Marsh, D. C.: Negro-Jewish Relationship. Wayne University Studies in Intergroup Conflicts in Detroit. Detroit, 1944.
- Wolfe, Henry Cutler: Human Dynamite, The Story of Europe's Minorities. The Foreign Policy Association. New York, 1939.
- Wolzendorff, Kurt: Grundlagen des Rechts des nationalen Minderheiten. Berlin, 1921.
- Woodson, Carter G.: The Negro in Our History. Washington: The Associated Publishers Inc., 1922.
- Woofter, T. J., Jr.: Races and Ethnic Groups in American Life. McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York, 1933.
- Woofter, Thomas Jackson, Jr.: The Basis of Racial Adjustment. Ginn and Co., New York, 1925.
- Woolfer, Thomas, Jr.: The Basis of Racial Adjustment. Boston, 1925.
- Wrightstone, J. W.: Scale of Civic Beliefs. World Book Company, Chicago, 1939.
- Wundt, W.: Voelkerpsychologie. Eine Untersuchung der Entwisklungsgesetze von Sprache, Mythus und Sitte.

Y

- Yearbook on Human Rights, 1946: United Nations, Lake Success, New York, 1947.
- Yeiter, Isabelle: The Curriculum as an Integrating Force for Ethnic Variations. Harvard University Graduate School of Education, Cambridge, Mass., 1944.
- Young, Donald: American Minority Peoples, A Study in Racial and Cultural Conflicts in the United States. Harper and Bros., New York and London, 1952.
- Young, Donald R.: Racial Attitudes. Soc. Sci. Ins., Fisk Univ., Nashville, 1946.
- Young Donald R.: Controlling Group Prejudice. Ann. Amer. Acad., March 1946.
- Young, Donald R.: Inventory of Research in Racial and Cultural Relations. Bull. No. 1, June 1948, Amer. Council on Race Relations, 1126 E. 59th St., Chicago 57.
- Young, Donald R.: Research Memorandum on Minority Peoples in the Depresston. Social Science Research Council Bulletin 31, New York, 1937.

White, Walter: A Man Galled White. New York, The Viking Press, 1948.

Wiener, A. S.: Rh Factor and Racial Origins. Science, 96, 407-8, 1942.

Wiese, Leopold von: System der allgemeinen Soziologie. 1933.

- Young, Donald R.: Some Effects of a Course in American Race Problems on the Race Prejudice of 450 Undergraduates at the University of Pennsylvania. Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology, 22:285-242, 1927.
- Young, Earle F.: The Relation of Lynching to the Size of Political Areas. Sociology and Social Research, 12:348-525, 1928.
- Young, Earle F.: What is Race Prejudice? Journal of Applied Sociology, vol. X, pp. 134-140.
- Young, Kimball: Social Attitudes. Henry Holt and Co., New York, 1981, chap. III.
- Young, Kimball: Social Psychology. 1945.

Z

- Zacharias: Qui sont les véritables Aryens? "Vie intellectuelle", June 1934. Zangwill, Israel: The Principle of Nationalities. 1917.
- Zavala, Silvio: Las instituciones jurídicas de la conquista de America. 1935.
- Zeligs, Rose: Tracing Racial Attitudes Through Adolescence. Sociology and Social Research, 23:45-54, 1938.
- Zeligs, Rose: Race Attitudes of Children as Expressed by Their Concepts of Races. Sociology and Social Research, 21:361-371, 1936.
- Zeligs, Rose and Hendrickson, Gordon: Racial Attitudes of 200 Sixth-Grade Children. Sociology and Social Research, 18:26-36, 1933.
- Zeligs, Rose and Hendrickson: Factors Regarded by Children as the Bases of their Racial Attitudes. Sociology and Social Research, 19:255-288, 1934.
- Zillig, J.: Einstellung und Aussage. Zeitschrift fuer Psychologie, 106:58-106, 1928.
- Zollschan, I.: Zwei Denkschriften ueber die Notwendigkeit der Stellungnahme zum wissenschaftlichen Antisemitismus. Aktionsplan gegen den "wissenschaftlichen" Antisemitismus. Karlsbad. Druck "Graphia". 1933.
- Zuckerman, Nathan: Wine of Violence: An Anthology on Anti-Semitism. New York, Associated Press, 1947.